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We have a unique product candidate in 
Huntexil®, and I am confident that we will 
be able to make a difference in the lives of 
patients suffering from Huntington’s disease 
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its good safety profile, hold promise for 
Huntexil® in the management of Hunting-
ton’s disease.

Both the FDA and EMA requested 
additional phase III data to support the 
previously observed effect on the TMS 
and to substantiate the clinical relevance 
of this finding. The FDA further requested 
evidence of a statistically significant effect 
on an end-point which supports clinical 
relevance, and the FDA also recommended  
investigating doses of Huntexil® higher 
than those used in MermaiHD and HART. 
After discussions with leading experts in 
the field, NeuroSearch has designed the 
continued development programme for 
Huntexil®, including the phase III Prime-HD 
study. We are very pleased that the TMS 
is accepted as the primary endpoint in 
the Prime-HD study, thus increasing the 
likelihood of a successful outcome. To 
further demonstrate the clinical relevance 
of Huntexil®, the patients, overall function 
will be measured using the Clinical Global 
Impression (CGI) scale.

In order to optimise our financial and 
management resources in support of the 
development of Huntexil®, we decided 
during 2011 that a comprehensive restruc-
turing of the company and a controlled 
discontinuation of our other activities 
was required. Unfortunately, this means 
that we are parting with many competent 
employees. We greatly regret this situation, 
but it is necessary in order to realise the 
potential of Huntexil®. I am thankful for the 
understanding and support I have seen 
among our employees.

At the moment we are working on secur-
ing the financing required to conduct 
the Prime-HD study and the associated 
supportive studies in the Huntexil® 
development programme. We continue to 
seek a partner to market Huntexil® outside 
Europe, and in parallel we are exploring 
potential financing through a capital 
increase. 

With our strategic focus on Huntexil®, we 
have had to discontinue NsDiscovery – our 
CNS ion-channel research unit – as well as 
our research unit in Gothenburg. We will of 
course fulfil our obligations in the alliances 
with Lilly and Janssen, and we believe that 
the assets and knowledge accumulated 
in our non-Huntexil® activities could add 
value for the right owner.

Today, NeuroSearch is a very different 
company from the one I joined in Septem-
ber 2010, but it has renewed focus and 
dedication. We have a unique product can-
didate in Huntexil®, and I am confident that 
we will be able to make a difference in the 
lives of patients suffering from Hunting-
ton’s disease. As we do that, NeuroSearch 
will prosper, as will our shareholders, our 
employees and other stakeholders.

Patrik Dahlen
CEO 

To our shareholders
and other stakeholders    

Dear shareholder

The year 2011 was difficult for NeuroSearch. 
We received negative feedback from 
both the European and the US regulatory 
authorities (EMA and FDA) on our requests 
to file for market approval of Huntexil® 
based on the MermaiHD study and the 
HART study. We therefore concluded that 
additional data was required for filing. In 
addition, the equity markets were nega-
tively affected by the global financial crisis, 
and the biotech industry, in particular, 
has suffered. Nonetheless, NeuroSearch 
remains committed to the development of 
Huntexil® and we are convinced it will be 
successful.

As a potential product for the manage-
ment of Huntington’s disease, Huntexil® 
is expected to be the first drug for the 
treatment of the impaired motor symptoms 
associated with the disease. Our belief in 
the potential of Huntexil® continues to be 
strong based on the findings in the two 
large trials, MermaiHD and HART. Although 
the studies failed to meet their primary 
endpoints, we saw statistically significant 
improvements of the Total Motor Score 
(TMS) of about 3 points. We believe that 
this is clinically relevant, a conclusion 
shared by key opinion leaders in the field, 
who agree that this effect, coupled with 
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Business model  
and strategy

NeuroSearch announced a comprehensive 
restructuring of the company’s operation 
to focus financial and management 
resources on the continued development 
of Huntexil®.

As a promising candidate for the 
treatment of Huntington’s disease, 

Huntexil® has the potential to become 
the first drug to treat the impaired motor 
symptoms associated with Huntington’s 
disease, and we believe Huntexil® 
represents an attractive commercial 
opportunity. 

Pipeline

MAD

TQT

Phase III: Prime-HD 45 mg or 67.5 mg both twice daily vs placebo, 26 weeks 

Phase III extension: Open Prime-HD 67.5 mg twice daily, 26 weeks 
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NeuroSearch also has a portfolio of assets for outlicensing 
or divestment. This includes tesofensine, ready for phase 
III, which has shown promising efficacy in the treatment of 
obesity, ABT-894 in phase II for ADHD and several 
compounds in phase I.

* �Please note that this is a schematic drawing of the programme and does not fully reflect the interrelationship in timing. For further information on the Huntexil® development programme, reference is 
made to page 16. 

Huntexil® development programme*

ProduCt indication drug CLASS Phase I II III REG

Huntexil® Huntington’s disease Dopidine Phase III  

Seridopidine Movement disorders Dopidine Phase I

Ordopidine Movement disorders Dopidine Phase I

An emerging speciality pharma 
company

The aim for NeuroSearch is to create a 
profitable, specialty pharma company 
building on the platform the company will 
achieve from a successful development 
of Huntexil®. In September 2011, 
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As part of preparing for commercialisa
tion of Huntexil®, our marketing orga
nisation is currently putting major efforts 
into building market understanding 
regarding Huntington’s disease. This is 
done through a close collaboration with 
a network of Huntington-organisations. 

Huntexil® belongs to a new class of com-
pounds, the dopidines. The pharmaco-
logical profile of this class of compounds 
indicates that they are effective in 
improving motor and behavioural symp-
toms for a number of CNS disorders 
characterised by dysfunctional dopa-
minergic transmission. NeuroSearch also 
develops seridopidine and ordopidine, 
which belong to the class of dopidines 
and are in phase I development.

The primary objectives of NeuroSearch 
for 2012 are:

•  �to ensure financing for full develop-
ment of Huntexil®

•  �to initiate the Prime-HD study with 
Huntexil®

•  �to further increase knowledge of the 
value of Huntexil® in the Huntington’s 
disease community.

The potential of Huntexil® 
There is no effective treatment of Huntington’s disease and Huntexil® is the 
first compound to address the overall motor symptoms.

Large clinical studies have shown statistically significant improvement in 
patients’ overall motor function.

Huntexil® is well-tolerated in the doses tested with no worsening of other 
disease symptoms.

Patent protection until 2024/2025 in the USA and 2025 in the EU, both 
including extensions.

All rights for Huntexil® are retained by NeuroSearch.

Huntexil® has designated orphan drug status with both the FDA and the 
EMA, granting seven and ten years market exclusivity, respectively.  

NeuroSearch believes there is an unmet treatment need in approximately 
110,000 patients in the major markets.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY  NEUROSEARCH  2011
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Financial highlights for the Group (DKK millions)*

Income statement and comprehensive income 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Revenue 115.2 66.8 84.6 - -
Research costs 200.4 216.8 217.0 - -
Development costs 131.7 176.9 184.6 144.4 259.1
Operating profit/(loss) (253.5) (366.0) (355.8) (167.6) (382.5)
Net financials (41.3) (49.9) 24.6 21.8 33.5
Profit/(loss) of continuing operations before tax (294.7) (415.9) (331.2) (145.8) (349.1)
Net profit/(loss) of discontinued operations - - - (160.4) (329.3)
Profit/(loss) for the period (268.4) (382.0) (287.1) (259.0) (678.4)
Comprehensive income (311.6) (444.5) (276.9) (216.7) (694.8)

Balance sheet

Total assets 1,780.6 1,245.8 1,630.0 1,391.5 840.8
Cash and cash equivalents and securities 845.3 453.4 808.5 480.6 **220.6
Equity 1,121.4 844.1 1,173.8 994.1 320.6
Investments in property, plant and equipment 15.7 50.3 19.8 10.8 3.6

Per share ratios (DKK)

Earnings per share (21.17) (24.47) (16.39) (10.56) (27.63)
Diluted earnings per share (21.17) (24.47) (16.39) (10.56) (27.63)
Net asset value 73.57 53.61 48.15 40.49 13.06
Market price at year-end 326.0 136.0 77.0 95.0 17.7
Market price/net asset value 4.43 2.54 1.60 2.35 1.36

Average number of employees 230 242 235 235 222

*   �Only the comparative figures for 2010 have been restated to reflect the continuing operation. It has not been possible to make the same spilt between continuing and discontinued operations for years 
prior to 2010 as the company has only had more than one organisational segment since 2011.

** �Excluding future contingent payments from the collaborative partner Janssen of DKK 38 million (2010: DKK 99.0 million) and contingent proceeds of DKK 9 million from the divestment of Sophion 
Bioscience A/S (2010: DKK 0 million).  

The ratios are stated in accordance with “Recommendations and Financial Ratios” issued by the Danish Society of Financial Analysts.

Financial 
highlights
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Huntexil® 
Facts on Huntington’s disease

Huntington’s disease is a hereditary 
degenerative brain disorder leading to the 
symptom characteristics seen in Hunting-
ton’s disease. The degeneration is caused 
by a defective gene which causes disrup-
tion of a protein in some parts of the brain, 
which slowly and irreversibly deteriorates. 
Huntington’s disease was first described 
in 1872 by George Huntington and the 
molecular mechanism behind the disease 
was discovered in 1993.

The diagnosis of Huntington’s disease  
is among others made when clear motor 
symptoms are seen, usually between 
30 to 50 years of age, but there are also 
cases when the disease debuts in children 
and elderly persons. However, recent 
research has shown that signs of disease 
progression may occur several years 
before diagnosis. Early symptoms include, 
among others, depression, forgetfulness, 
clumsiness and lack of coordination. As 
the disease progresses, the ability to walk, 
talk and reason deteriorates and invol-
untary movements increase. The motor 
and cognitive functions steadily decline, 
eventually resulting in a need for 24-hour 
care and in premature death.

Today, there is no efficient cure for 
Huntington patients.

According to the Huntington’s Disease 
Society of America, one out of every 
10,000 Americans suffer from Hunting-
ton’s disease, and the prevalence is 
considered to be similar in most  
European countries. 

However, a recent article in scientific 
journal The Lancet reports a prevalence 
in the UK of 1.24 patients per 10,000 
inhabitants. 

In addition, the change in demographics 
of many societies with an increasing 
proportion of elderly people is expected to 
increase the number of patients with a late 
Huntington diagnosis.

NeuroSearch estimates that there are 
approximately 110,000 symptomatic pa-
tients in the world’s major markets, includ-
ing North America, western and eastern 
Europe, and other countries with a known 
presence of Huntington’s disease patients.

 1.24
out of every 10,000  
Britons have  
huntington’s Disease
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Huntington’s disease profoundly affects the lives  
of entire families. 

Today, there is no cure for Huntington’s disease.
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Total Motor Score 
(TMS) 

The gold standard clinical assessment 
tool for Huntington’s disease is the 
Unified Huntington’s Disease Rating 
Scale (UHDRS). Initially published in 1996 
(revised in 1999), it has been used in 
virtually every clinical trial in Huntington’s 

disease since then. It comprises the three 
major symptom domains (motor function, 
cognition and behaviour). 

The motor component of the UHDRS 
consists of a range of tests and assess-

ments to evaluate the patient’s overall 
motor function. A score of 0 to 4 is 
assigned for each sub-item on the scale 
and a TMS summary score is calculated. 
The higher scores, the more severe  
motor symptoms.

Eye movements	

Motor-speech  
and tounge disorder

Hand movements	

Rigidity and slowness

Involuntary movements

Gait and balance

�•  Ocular pursuit
•  Saccade initiation
•  Saccade velocity

•  Dysarthria
•  Tongue protrusion

•  Finger taps
•  Pronate/supinate (hands)
•  Luria

•  Rigidity (arms)
•  Bradykinesia (body)

•  Maximal dystonia
•  Maximal chorea

•  Gait
•  Tandem walking
•  Retropulsion pull test

The Total Motor Score is the 
most commonly used scale for 
the assessment of Huntington’s 
disease related to motor symp-
toms in clinical studies.

TM
S
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Results from 
HART and MermaiHD

In MermaiHD and HART, Huntexil® 
showed statistically significant effect on 
the TMS, which, however, was not the 
primary endpoint for any of the studies. 
The effect was measured on a dose of 
45 mg twice daily. 

Both the HART and the MermaiHD 
showed positive effect on the primary 
endpoint, the mMS, at the same dose, 
but neither study reached the pre-speci
fied significance criteria and hence 
the studies did not meet their primary 
endpoint. 

The MermaiHD study was designed to 
investigate the effect and safety at one 
or two daily doses each of 45 mg in 437 
patients for 26 weeks. 

In addition, the dose-response relation-
ship of Huntexil® was investigated in the 
HART study. A statistically significant 
monotone dose response, i.e. an increa
sed effect with increasing dose, was 
demonstrated both on the mMS and the 
TMS. The study included three different 
doses (10 mg, 22.5 mg or 45 mg – all 
twice daily) in 227 patients during  
12 weeks. 

Huntexil® is the first drug which has 
shown significant effect on the TMS 
without worsening the other Huntington’s 
disease symptoms being cognition and 
behaviour.
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All  
adverse 
events

Serious 
adverse 
events

Adverse events 
leading to treat-
ment interruption 
or stop

Adverse events 
judged as 
related to study 
drug by the 
investigator

Safety

The tolerability and safety of 
Huntexil® has been investigated 
in healthy volunteers, Parkinson 
patients, patients with schizo-
phrenia and Huntington patients. 
No significant safety concerns 
were identified in any indication 
or at any of the dose levels 
studied. 

In the combined safety analysis 
of HART and MermaiHD, the ad-
verse events profile was benign 
and similar to placebo. 

As at 1 May 2011, 822 subjects 
(of whom 621 are Huntington 
patients) have received Hun-
texil®. Based on these data, 
Huntexil® is considered safe and 
well tolerated over 52 weeks of 
treatment in doses up to 45 mg 
twice daily. 
 

Dose-response relation of Huntexil® on the TMS in the HART

mg/day0	 20
(10 mg twice daily)

45
(22.5 mg twice daily)

90
(45 mg twice daily)

TMS, change from study start

0 

 -1    
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-5

-6

-7

Huntexil® Placebo

Huntexil® 45 mg twice daily Placebo

% of subjects



TMS, change from study start

Effect of Huntexil® on the TMS in the 12-week HART study

Weeks from start of treatment

Placebo Huntexil®    45 mg twice daily

Placebo Huntexil®    45 mg twice daily

The effects on the TMS were statistically significant in both the HART and the MermaiHD studies at the 45 mg twice daily dose level.  

Effect of Huntexil® on the TMS in the 26-week MermaiHD study

Weeks from start of treatment

TMS, change from study start

1  �P-value indicates the difference of potency between Huntexil® and placebo. A small value means a greater likelihood that the difference is a true and not spurious finding. 
2  LOCF (Last Observation Carried Forward) denotes results from patients that did not complete the study but still are included in the final analysis.
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Studies after 
MermaiHD and HART

The 26-week MermaiHD study was 
followed by another 26-week treatment 
period with doses of 45 mg twice daily to 
investigate the safety profile of Huntexil®. 
During this open-label extension phase, 
NeuroSearch received an increasing 
number of requests from patients for 
continued treatment with Huntexil®. Many 
of the patients who had received Huntexil® 
during MermaiHD and the following 
extension period wanted to continue their 
treatment. Therefore, a compassionate 

use programme was inititated, and today 
it counts 130 patients which is more than 
40% of the 305 eligible patients who 
participated in both the MermaiHD study 
and the open-label extension phase of 
MermaiHD. 

Also during the HART study, many 
patients expressed great interest in 
continued treatment after the end of the 
study. Therefore, a study continuation, 
designated Open-HART, was initiated. 
The first patients were enrolled in March 
2011 and by the end of December 2011 
when recruitment was completed, 118 
of the possible 213 patients had been 
included in the study, corresponding to 
more than 50%. 

The high level of interest from patients 
and clinicians in continuing treatment 
is an indication that Huntexil® is well 
received by the Huntington community.

118
patients were included in 
the open-HART study by the 
end of December 2011 

The clinical profile of Huntexil® promises benefits  
in the following areas:

•  �Improvement of impaired motor function associated with  
Huntington’s disease

•  No worsening of other Huntington’s disease symptoms
   (cognition and behaviour)  
•  Benign safety profile
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Prime-HD 

The study is planned to enrol 630 patients recruited in Europe and the 
United States and possibly also in South America and Australia

67.5 mg twice daily

45 mg twice daily

Screening WashoutTitration Six moths open  
phase III study

Placebo twice daily

Planned study design, Prime-HD study

Week - 4 12 26 30
Randomisation

26 weeks 
Open Prime-HD
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The Prime-HD study to be led  
by leading expert 

Dr G. Bernhard Landwehrmeyer, 
Professor of Neurology at Ulm University, 
Germany, has accepted to lead the 
international Prime-HD study.

Dr Landwehrmeyer is also the Chair  
of the Executive Committee of the 
European Huntington’s Disease Network 
(EHDN), which participated in the conduct 
of the MermaiHD study. The EHDN will 
review and provide input to the study 
protocol before the Prime-HD is initiated.

“Based on prior studies, Huntexil® has the potential to be 
a therapeutic advance in the treatment of Huntington’s 
disease, a disease characterised by a lack of efficaci-
ous and well-tolerated treatment options. Based on the 
available evidence, I expect that the Prime-HD study will 
define, in an unequivocal fashion, the domains that Hun-
texil® can improve, and the magnitude of any such much 
wanted clinical improvement.”





20 NEUROSEARCH  2011  Huntexil®

The burden of 
Huntington’s disease to society

Huntington’s disease is a rare genetic dis-
order that has devastating consequences 
for affected patients and their families. 
The rarity of the disease, means that fewer 
resources are allocated to research and 
care than is the case for more common or 
well-known diseases.

Since the global impact of Huntington’s 
disease has not been studied, it is impos-
sible to know the extent of the burden 
of the disease, or how such knowledge 
could be translated into improvements 
in patient treatment and care or research 
funding. Individual patient stories are 
compelling and often heart-wrenching, 
and reveal the significant impact that this 
disease has on their lives and families.  
But in order for the Huntington’s disease 
community to succeed in achieving 
healthcare reforms, more structured data 
are required.

Therefore, NeuroSearch has initiated the 
world’s first international study on the bur-
den of Huntington’s disease. NeuroSearch 
hopes that this will increase awareness 
about Huntington’s disease and ensure 
that people within this field hold the best 
possible knowledge to educate politicians 
and healthcare policy makers.

Through the provision of a research grant 
to the University of Lyon, which is coordi-
nating the study, the Global Huntington’s 
Disease Burden (Global-HDB) study is 
being carried out in Europe, Australia and 
the USA. 

Data are already available from the first 
participating countries, and they highlight 
the substantial costs and caregiver burden 
that the disease causes. 

Key findings presented so far include:

•  �In France, the direct treatment costs 
(hospital visits, nursing home, etc) 
excluding productivity losses associated 
with Huntington’s disease amount to 
approximately EUR 24,000 per patient 
per year. 

•  �In Poland and Italy, caregivers reported 
that patients in average needed more 
than 20 hours of care per day. 

•  �Among caregivers surveyed in the 
United States, 43% reported significant 
deterioration of their quality of life.

These and other findings from the Global-
HDB study were presented and discussed 
at international scientific meetings during 
2011.

Both the University of Lyon and 
NeuroSearch believe that the data from 
this important study will provide a better 
understanding of how Huntington’s 
disease affects patients, family, caregivers 
and society as a whole, and how this may 
differ between countries and healthcare 
systems. Furthermore, the results will play 
a vital role in ensuring that more resources 
are allocated to Huntington’s disease 
research and that improved patient care 
will be a reality.  

 43
per cent of the surveyed  
caregivers in the us reported 
significant deterioration of 
their quality of life
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Insights from   
US neurologists

NeuroSearch has gained valuable insights 
from US-based key opinion leaders, 
movement disorder specialists, general 
neurologists, and primary care physicians 
who treat Huntington patients. 

In September 2011, NeuroSearch 
concluded a US market survey to obtain 
physician reactions to a hypothetical 
Huntexil® product profile based on data 
demonstrated in previous studies and 
data that could be generated with the 
current phase III protocol. 

A significant unmet need remains in the 
treatment of motor symptoms associated 
with Huntington’s disease in spite of the 
recent launch of tetrabenazine (approved 

for treatment of chorea associated with 
Huntington’s disease).

No significant barriers to a successful 
launch were uncovered in patient flow  
and treatment-seeking patterns, treatment 
dynamics for motor symptoms, or the 
current reimbursement environment.

The reaction to the hypothetical Huntexil® 
profile was very positive. The value to 
clinicians centered on ease-of-use and the 
ability to improve motor symptoms with 
limited side effects. Responses indicated 
a strong potential to clearly, substantially, 
and favourably differentiate from existing 
treatment options. 

All physicians participating in the survey 
indicated they would prescribe a drug 
possessing the characteristics listed in the 
profile for their Huntington patients. The 
estimated intent-to-prescribe percentages 
provided by all clinicians interviewed indi-
cated a potential for significant US market 
penetration with Huntexil® if approved 
with the same data.

Similar market research covering the  
five large EU markets was initiated in early 
2012. Results will be available in mid-2012.

95
per cent of physicians inter-
viewed described the Huntexil®-
like product profile as 

“appealing” and stated that  
they would prescribe a drug 
with a similar profileThe research indicated a 

significant medical need 
in the treatment of motor 
symptoms in Huntington’s 
disease.
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Dopidines  

Dopidines are centrally acting drugs 
shown to be fast dissociating dopamine D2 
antagonists. Dopidines stimulate or inhibit 
dopamine mediated behaviour in animals 
depending on the underlying dopaminergic 
tone. In patients, the frontrunner, Huntexil®, 
has shown efficacy in improving motor 
function in Huntington patients.

The dopidines’ pharmacological profile 
suggests this class of compounds to be 
effective in improving motor and behav-
ioural symptoms for a number of CNS 
disorders characterised by dysfunctional 
dopaminergic transmission. Based on the 
pharmacology of dopidines, a number of 
diseases, such as Parkinson’s disease 
and schizophrenia, have been considered 
for seridopidine and ordopidine 

Together with Huntexil®, seridopidine  
and ordopidine constitute a range of patent 
families that are important to NeuroSearch. 
In order to focus on the development of 
Huntexil®, the company so far has decided 
not to initiate phase II studies with any of 
the projects.

 
Seridopidine

Seridopidine has been evaluated in  
clinical phase I studies to investigate the 
compound’s safety and tolerability as well 
as the pharmacokinetic profile after oral 
administration to healthy volunteers.  
The results were satisfactory, showing that 
seridopidine is well tolerated and has an 
acceptable pharmacokinetic profile and a 
satisfactory safety margin after oral 
administration. 

Ordopidine

Clinical phase I studies with ordopidine 
demonstrated a favourable safety and 
tolerability profile after oral administration 
to healthy volunteers. In October 2009, 
NeuroSearch initiated a phase Ib study  

to evaluate primarily the safety and 
tolerability profile of ordopidine in patients 
with Parkinson’s disease and Levodopa 
induced dyskinesia. The study has now 
finalised the active phase and data are 
currently being analysed.
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Shareholder 
information
NeuroSearch is listed on NASDAQ OMX 
Copenhagen A/S under securities identi
fication code 1022466 (NEUR) and is 
included in the SmallCap segment.

Share price and market cap 
performance in 2011

On 30 December 2011, the closing price 
of the NeuroSearch share was DKK 17.7 
compared with a year-end closing price of 
DKK 95.0 in 2010, equivalent to a 81.4% 
decrease in 2011.

During 2011, NeuroSearch was included  
in the NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen 
MidCap Index, which decreased by 21.6% 
while the SmallCap Index decreased by 
27.7%. By comparison, the NASDAQ 
OMX Copenhagen Biotech Index 
decreased by 50.8%. The NASDAQ OMX 
Copenhagen 20 Index decreased by 
14.8% in the course of 2011.

Share price performance in 2011

NeuroSearch

OMX Biotech 

OMX MIDCAP 

OMX C20 
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January December

In January 2011, NeuroSearch announ
ced a 20% reduction of the staff and 
the establishment of NsDiscovery as the 
research division managing the alliances 
with Lilly and Janssen. The other part of 
NeuroSearch was the development divi-
sion conducting the clinical programmes 
for Huntexil®, ordopidine and seridopidine. 

In March and May, NeuroSearch recei
ved feedback from the FDA and EMA, 
respectively, regarding the approvability of 
Huntexil® for the treatment of Huntington’s 
disease. Both agencies recommended 
further clinical data to demonstrate effi-
cacy measured on the TMS and additional 
endpoints to support the clinical relevance 
of Huntexil®. 

In September, NeuroSearch announced 
the continued development of Huntexil® 
to support application for market appro
val, including an outline of the planned 
Prime-HD phase III study.

Also in September, NeuroSearch announ
ced the discontinuation of NsDiscovery 
and the research unit in Gothenburg along 
with a proportional reduction of adminis-
trative staff. This involves a reduction of 
the organisation by more than 80% when 
fully implemented.

Turnover  

In 2011, the turnover of NeuroSearch 
shares totalled DKK 679 million, 
equivalent to an average daily turnover 
of DKK 2.7 million. A total of 14.3 million 
shares (58%) were traded during the year. 
In 2010, total turnover in the share was 
DKK 3.8 billion corresponding to a daily 
turnover of DKK 15.2 million and a total 
number of shares traded of approximately 
29.2 million (119%).
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Latest share price and turnover

From the turn of the year and until 24 
February 2012, the NeuroSearch share 
price and market capitalisation have  
been essentially unchanged. 

The market capitalisation for NeuroSearch 
was DKK 413 million at 24 February 2012.

Share capital

As of 31 December 2011, the total share 
capital of NeuroSearch amounted to  
DKK 491,078,940 distributed on 
24,553,947 shares with a nominal value  
of DKK 20 each. 

The Board of Directors assesses the 
capital base of NeuroSearch on a regular 
basis to ensure that the company’s finan-
cial resources are sufficient at all times to 
support the company’s strategic goals. 
Consequently, NeuroSearch is exploring 
the potential of raising additional capital 
either through a partnership agreemnet for 
Huntexil® or through a capital increase. 

On 20 February 2012, NeuroSearch con-
ducted an extraordinary general meeting 
and was granted the permission to reduce 
the share capital to DKK 24,553,947 in 
shares of DKK 0.05. The reduction of the 
share capital neither dilutes any existing 
shareholding nor has any impact on the 
number of shares owned by each share-
holder. Notice has been given to the 
Company’s creditors, requesting them to 
file their claims against NeuroSearch within 
four weeks. Implementation of the reduc-
tion of the share capital will not take place 
until after expiry of this four week time limit, 
which will expire on 19 March 2012. The 
share capital reduction is to maintain the 
financial flexibiiltyh of the Company and  
the possibiliy to issue new shares.

Ownership structure

On 31 December 2011, NeuroSearch 
had 23,659 registered shareholders, 
who held a total of 18,680,620 shares. 
This corresponds to 76.1% of the total 
outstanding share capital registered in 
the company’s register of shareholders. 

In 2011, the number of registered 
NeuroSearch shareholders decreased by 
586, but the percentage of the registered 
share capital concurrently increased by 
14.6%. 

The company’s shares are bearer 
securities, and thus no exact registration 
of the holders exists.

The following investors have notified 
NeuroSearch that they hold more than 
10% of the shares in the company:

Luxor Capital Group, LP, 1114 Avenue of 
the Americas, 29th Floor, New York, NY 
10036, USA

Porter Orlin LLC, 666 5th Avenue # 3403, 
New York, NY 10103-3402, USA

The following investors have notified 
NeuroSearch that they hold more than 5% 
of the shares in the company:  

Glaxo Group Limited, Berkeley Ave., 
Greenford, Middlesex, UB6 0NN, United 
Kingdom

ATP, Kongens Vænge 2, DK-3400 
Hillerød, Denmark

NeuroSearch does not expect to pay 
dividends until the company has achieved 

Distribution of shares  
geographically

Distribution of shares by 
investor type	

sufficient earnings for doing so. This 
objective is expected to be achieved 
through the commercialisation of pro
prietary speciality drugs.

Financial calendar for 2012

The Annual General Meeting will be held 
on Tuesday, 10 April 2012 at 4 pm (local 
time) at the Radisson Blu Falconer Hotel 
& Conference Center, Falkoner Allé 9, 
DK-2000 Frederiksberg, Copenhagen, 
Denmark.   

Financial reporting in 2012

10 April 2012	
Annual General Meeting 
25 April 2012
Interim Report for Q1 2012
30 August 2012	
Interim Report for Q2 2012
15 November 2012	
Interim Report for Q3 2012

Warrant programme

The company’s warrant programme was 
established in order to attract and retain 
highly skilled employees. In the planning  
of the programme, NeuroSearch has 
focused on ensuring that both new and 
existing employees see a direct relation-
ship between the work they do and the 
value creation in the company.

The Executive Management and all other 
employees participate in the warrant 
programme. 

The exercise price is determined on the 
basis of the share price on the date of 
grant. The Board of Directors has resolved 
that the programme may not exceed 10% 
of the issued share capital at any time.  

 �I nstitutional  
investors

  Private investors
 U nregistered	

47% 38%

23%

15%

24%24%

29%

 D enmark
  Europe
 U SA
 U nregistered
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At year-end 2011, the warrant programme 
amounted to 6.4% of the share capital.

No warrants were granted or exercised  
in 2011.

In-house stock exchange code of ethics

The Board of Directors, management 
and all other employees of NeuroSearch 
are subject to the NeuroSearch stock 
exchange code of ethics. This means that 
the persons affected are only allowed to 
deal in NeuroSearch shares during periods 
of four weeks after the release of the 
annual and interim reports respectively. 
NeuroSearch has established a system  
for monitoring in-house trading in com-
pany shares.

Investor relations 

It is our aim to maintain open, efficient, 
frequent and consistent communications 
with the investor market, including in 
particular with our shareholders, potential 
investors, equity analysts and the press in 
Denmark and abroad. As part of this ob-
jective, we strive to provide easy access 
to relevant information and to a dialogue 
with management regarding the compa-

ny’s financial and business performance, 
as well as its strategy and goals.

The purpose of an efficient communi
cations and information policy is to give 
NeuroSearch stakeholders the best pos-
sible basis for assessing the company’s 
activities and potential.

As a Danish public company, our commu-
nications must comply with the rules and 
regulations set out in the Danish Securities 
Trading Act and in the Rules for Issuers of 
Shares on the NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen 
Stock Exchange. Thus, our most impor-
tant communications tools are company 
announcements and press releases issued 
via the NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen distri-
bution service. Following public release, all 
news releases are posted on our website. 
Further, direct contact and dialogue with 
all investor market stakeholders is very 
important. 

IR activities

In the course of 2011,NeuroSearch  
held a number of meetings with investors 
and equity analysts and presented the 
company at investor conferences in the 
US and Europe. NeuroSearch has been  
in contact with a large number of inves-
tors, equity analysts and other capital 
market players. 

Furthermore, NeuroSearch has 
participated and presented the company 
at private investor events in Denmark. 

NeuroSearch is covered by analysts from 
all the main investment banks in Denmark 
and the Nordic region. Broad analyst 
coverage is important to ensure correct 
pricing of the company’s shares as well 
as good liquidity. This is also important in 
order to attract increased attention from 
international institutional investors. 
 
 
Website

Our website (www.neurosearch.com) is 
kept updated, so that our shareholders 
and other stakeholders can at all times 

obtain a full overview of the developmen-
tal status and the prospects of the entire 
company.

Service by email and mobile text 

We invite all shareholders and other stake-
holders to register for our email service  
in order to automatically receive company 
announcements and press releases 
directly by email or mobile text message.
 
You can register for our email or mobile 
text message service directly at  
www.neurosearch.com.

List of analysts:

ABG Sundal Collier ASA
Esplanaden 34A
DK-1263 Copenhagen K, Denmark	
Peter Hugreffe Ankersen 

Carnegie Bank A/S
Overgaden Neden Vandet 9B
DK-1414 Copenhagen K, Denmark	
Carsten Lønborg Madsen

Danske Equities 
Holmens Kanal 2-12
DK-1092 Copenhagen K, Denmark	
Thomas Bowers

Jyske Bank
Vestergade 8-16
DK-8600 Silkeborg, Denmark	
Frank Hørning Andersen

Nordea Bank Danmark A/S
Strandgade 3
DK-0900 Copenhagen C, Denmark	
Michael Novod 

Skandinaviska Enskilda  
Banken AB
Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8
S-106 40 Stockholm, Sweden 

 IR
It is our aim to maintain  
open, efficient, frequent and 
consistent communications 
with the investor market
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Risk management 
and internal control
Drug development involves a great 
financial risk. The development period is 
typically many years, costs are high, and 
the probability of reaching the market is 
relatively low. 

At NeuroSearch, the assessment of the 
probability of success is a central part of 
the companys annual strategic planning. 
Particular consideration is given to 
scientific, development, commercial and 
financial risks. Management believes that 
NeuroSearch has no special commercial 
and scientific risks beyond those normal  
in the pharmaceutical industry.

Scientific and development risks

The following factors are assessed regu-
larly for all drug development programmes 
as part of routine committee work in 
which both the project teams and man-
agement participate: 

•  �The complexity of clinical development, 
access to patients and the speed at 
which proof of concept can be estab-
lished

•  �The scientific rationale (known or new 
mechanism)

•  �Attracting and retaining employees 
who have the relevant knowledge and 
experience

•  �The occurrence of unexpected and 
adverse events

•  ��Regulatory assessment of a drug 
candidate’s efficacy and safety profile 
and the probability of final approval.

Commercial risks

The following factors are assessed in 
connection with the initiation of a drug 
development programme and evaluated 
regularly in connection with the reassess-
ment of the pipeline:

•  �Degree and scope of patent protection
•  �Market size (prevalence and expected 

growth in patient numbers)

•  �Competitive situation (existing treatment 
as well as new drugs in development for 
the same disease)

•  �Interest from potential partners
•  �Market access.

Financial risks

The financial risks are assessed regularly 
by the company’s management and 
are included in reporting to the Board 
of Directors. The following things are 
considered important:   

•  �Financing opportunities through partner 
agreements

•  �Financing opportunities in the equity 
market

•  �Short-term cash requirements of devel-
opment programmes

•  �Cash and treasury management.
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Management of selected risk areas
 
Regulatory compliance

During the first half of 2011, a review was 
made of the NeuroSearch quality system. 
In July 2011, the Executive Management 
approved the QMS 2.0 project aimed at 
re-designing the NeuroSearch Quality 
Management System (QMS). A new and 
optimised process design with strict 
focus on compliance with international 
guidelines and regulations will support 
NeuroSearch on the critical path through 
late stage development and approval of 
pharmaceutical products. The QMS will 
support the NeuroSearch business by op-
timal use of resources through the design 
of flexible and value-adding processes. 
Built-in control mechanisms will ensure 
continous compliance with regulatory 
requirements and adaptation to changing 
business needs, e.g. through ongoing 
management review, measurable process 
targets and diligent oversight of third party 
suppliers. It is planned that the system will 
be in place in 2012, and in the meantime, 
existing processes will be used.

Capital resources

NeuroSearch is dependent on being  
able to access additional capital to com-
plete the development of Huntexil® and, 
thus, being able to realise the value of the 
pipeline. Currently, NeuroSearch has no 
drugs on the market or any other substan
tial sources of income to fully develop 
Huntexil®.  

The Board of Directors and Executive 
Management is exploring the potential  
of raising additional capital either through 
a partnership agreement for Huntexil® or 
through a capital increase. Partnership 
agreements with joint responsibility for 
drug development, regulatory approvals 
and subsequent commercialisation will 
lower the overall risk profile, compared  
to assuming full responsibility of the pro-
cess within NeuroSearch. 

Until the first product reaches the market, 
NeuroSearch will be a capital consuming 
unit investing in drug development and 
commercialisation, so it is vital that the 
company always has sufficient financial 
resources. At all Board meetings, the 
Board of Directors receive a report regard-
ing the company’s financial resources and 
management’s assessment of the poten-
tial of procuring the necessary capital.

Securing the company’s operations  
and assets

NeuroSearch has taken out insurance to 
cover both any operating losses, losses 
due to claims in connection with clinical 
studies and loss of assets in connection 
with fire, theft or the like. All insurance is 
handled by external insurance brokers 
who report at least once a year as to 
whether the company’s insurance cover  
is considered to be sufficient and 
reasonable.   

Management of cash and cash 
equivalents

The Board of Directors has adopted 
guidelines for the management of the 
company’s cash and cash equivalents, 
including securities. The treasury policy 
describes, among other things, in  

which securities investments can be made 
and that the investments must be handled 
and managed by investment departments 
of leading Danish banks. Furthermore, the 
treasury policy provides guidelines on the 
use of financial instruments. The Board of 
Directors reviews the document at least 
once a year to ensure that the guidelines 
are sound and in line with the company’s 
operations.

Main elements of internal control and 
risk management systems in relation 
to the financial reporting process in 
NeuroSearch 

NeuroSearch has elected to publish the 
main elements of its internal control and 
risk management systems in connection 
with the financial reporting on the 
company’s website (www.neurosearch.
com/Default.aspx?ID=8247). In addition, 
NeuroSearch has elected to publish the 
statutory report on corporate manage-
ment, cf. section 107b of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act, on its website.
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Work environment at 
NeuroSearch has high priority 
and we continually initiate steps 
to enhance the awareness of 
health among the employees

Knowledge management

Knowledge management at NeuroSearch is important in ensuring the innovative 
and targeted application of academic knowledge in the development of patent­
able and commercially attractive products. Only through constant building up 
and application of knowledge, will it be possible for NeuroSearch to maintain its 
position as an innovative drug development company.

Therefore, we focus on knowledge management, which we define as the part of 
the management process that involves procuring, organising, sharing, develop­
ing and consolidating knowledge resources. 
 

Focus on new opportunities

To strengthen innovation power in NeuroSearch, it is important that new know­
ledge is constantly being generated, developed and validated. 

The main activity in NeuroSearch is to generate new knowledge through clinical 
studies and generation of related clinical data.

The Project Development Board ensures that projects are frequently challenged 
on progress, timelines and budgets, and the status is conveyed to the manage­
ment via the monthly management report. 

NeuroSearch is actively pursuing patents on the company’s proprietary com­
pounds, and the NeuroSearch patent portfolio is constantly monitored and 
developed to ensure the best possible exploitation of the inherent value.

We also emphasise the need to publish peer reviewed articles in high impact 
journals as well as the need to present scientific results at relevant confer­
ences. In order to optimise the commercial as well as academic output from 
knowledge creation in NeuroSearch, we have formed the Publication Strategy 
Committee which oversees all such activities and contributes to optimal tim­
ing, consistency and relevance of publications. The committee makes all its 
decisions available to the organisation, whereby the knowledge is diffused and 
anchored in the company.

An optimisation of our IT infrastructure 
was not realised in 2011 due to cut­
backs. IT equipment which is no longer 
in use in-house will be sold via a sales 
database, and if it cannot be sold, IT 
tools and equipment will be given away 
to relevant educational institutions. 

In the future, all cleaning detergents 
must be approved by the work environ­
ment manager. In addition, all clean­
ing detergents must be swan labelled 
(Nordic green label). 

In 2011, NeuroSearch initiated an analy­
sis process regarding the company’s 
impact on the climate, including CO2 
emissions, and the results, which are ex­
pected in the beginning of 2012, will form 
the basis of precise targets for 2012. 

Anti-corruption

As part of our anti-corruption objectives 
for 2011, we have updated our standard 
contracts to ensure that our collaboration 
partners in business areas that are vul­
nerable to corruption commit themselves 
and their subcontractors to comply with 
our anti-corruption principles. Inter­
nally, we have centralised our approval 
process for external consultants and 
other suppliers in business-critical areas, 
including clinical studies and marketing, 
in order to reduce the risk of corruption.

To further strengthen the anti-corruption 
efforts in NeuroSearch, we will identify 
the critical areas within our business 
in 2012 and prepare our employees to 
handle critical situations correctly.

The Corporate Social Report (CSR 
Report) is available in full at  
www.neurosearch.com/Default.
aspx?ID=8300
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Financial
review
Due to the comprehensive restructuring 
announced in September 2011, the 
reporting on profit and loss in the Annual 
Report 2011 has been split into continuing 
and discontinued operations. The Annual 
Report 2011 includes the consolidated 
financial statements of NeuroSearch 
A/S, comprising the parent company 
and the three wholly-owned subsidiaries 
NeuroSearch Sweden AB, Poseidon 
Pharmaceuticals A/S and NsExplorer A/S.     

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2011, cash and cash 
equivalents including securities totalled 
DKK 221 million. Securities primarily 
consist of highly liquid short-term bonds. 
In addition, future committed contingent 
payments from our alliance partner 
Janssen amount to DKK 38 million, and 
contingent proceeds from the divestment 
of Sophion Bioscience A/S amount to 
DKK 9 million.

The Annual Report has been prepared on 
a going concern basis. The company’s 
capital is considered to be sufficient to 
fund the current level of activity and a 
controlled closure of the discontinued 
operations. 

The funding of the start-up of additional 
phase III studies of Huntexil® will require 

additional capital. Management continues 
to seek a partner to market Huntexil® 
outside Europe, and in parallel we are 
exploring the potential of raising additional 
capital through a capital increase. 

Based on the above, management 
believes that the Annual Report should be 
presented on a going concern basis. 
  

Income statement

In 2011, the group posted an operating 
loss on continuing operations of DKK 383 
million (2010: DKK 168 million). This was 
on a level with our guidance of a loss in 
the region of DKK 370 million. 

NeuroSearch posted a loss after tax on 
continuing operations of DKK 349 million 
(2010: DKK 99 million). 

The loss of discontinued operations was 
DKK 329 million, which was DKK 16 
million below our guidance of a loss of 
discontinued operations of approximately 
DKK 345 million.

Revenue

No revenue was generated in the period, 
and neither in the same period of 2010.

Costs

Consolidated costs totalled DKK 383 
million (2010: DKK 168 million). 
 
Development costs increased from  
DKK 144 million in 2010 to DKK 259 
million in 2011, of which DKK 170 million 
represented one-off costs without a cash 
flow effect regarding an impairment write-
down of intangible assets and a provision 
for changed milestone payments to the 
sellers of Carlsson Research. Adjusted 

for one-off costs in 2011, development 
costs declined from DKK 144 million in 
2010 to DKK 89 million in 2011. In 2010, 
development costs mainly concerned the 
US phase IIb HART study with Huntexil®, 
while development costs were at a lower 
level in 2011 as we awaited feedback from 
the regulatory authorities in the course of 
2011 and planned the continued develop-
ment of Huntexil®, which meant that fewer 
patients were enrolled in studies, resulting 
in lower costs. 

General and administrative costs rose 
from DKK 23 million in 2010 to DKK 123 
million in 2011, of which DKK 99 million 
represented impairment charges on 
property and other assets with no cash 
flow effect.

Net financials

Financials amounted to a net income of 
DKK 34 million (2010: DKK 22 million). 

The NeuroSearch Group’s shares of 
results of associates recognised in the 
income statement– NsGene A/S, Sophion 
Bioscience A/S and Atonomics A/S – 
totalled DKK 27 million (2010: a loss of 
DKK 2 million), of which DKK 33 million 
represented income from the divestment 
of Sophion Bioscience A/S. 

Financial income was DKK 17 million in 
2011 (2010: DKK 38 million), and financial 
expense was DKK 10 million (2010: DKK 
14 million).
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Income taxes 

The NeuroSearch Group has potential tax 
assets of DKK 646 million (2010: DKK 495 
million), of which DKK 126 million relating 
to NeuroSearch Sweden AB is recognised 
and offset in the deferred tax liability 
relating to the activities of NeuroSearch 
Sweden AB. The tax assets are not 
recognised in the balance sheet as it is 
still deemed that sufficient certainty has 
not been established as to whether the 
tax assets can be used for offset against 
future taxable income.

Discontinued operations

In September 2011, NeuroSearch announ
ced a major restructuring of operations in 
order to focus company resources on the 
continued development of Huntexil®. The 
operations that were discontinued in that 
connection comprise ion-channel research, 
including the research alliances with Lilly 
(expired in February 2012) and with Jans-
sen (expiring in August 2013), as well as 
the research activities in Sweden. Most of 
the company’s employees were terminated 
in connection with the restructuring. 

The loss of discontinued operations rose 
to DKK 329 million (2010: DKK 160 million), 
representing an increase of DKK 230 mil-
lion related to a provision for loss-making 
collaborations, including the contracts 
with Lilly and Janssen, impairment write-
downs of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets, salaries to redun-
dant employees during the notice period 
and related infrastructure.

Allocation of loss

It is proposed that the year’s consolidated 
loss of DKK 678 million be transferred to 
retained earnings.

Balance sheet

The balance sheet stood at DKK 841 
million at 31 December 2011 (2010: DKK 
1,392 million). 

Net investments in intangible assets  
and property, plant and equipment in 
2011 totalled DKK 4 million, mainly related 
to laboratory equipment (2010: DKK 12 
million). 

NeuroSearch invested DKK 2 million in 
associates in 2011 (2010: DKK 6 million).

Cash and cash equivalents including 
securities totalled DKK 221 million at 31 
December 2011 (2010: DKK 481 million). 

Statement of cash flows

The cash flow from operating activities 
amounted to a cash outflow of DKK 255 
million in 2011 (2010: a cash outflow of 
DKK 359 million). The change was mainly 
attributable to lower development costs  
in 2011 than in 2010. In 2010, develop-
ment costs mainly concerned the US 
phase IIb HART study of Huntexil®, while 
development costs were at a lower level 
in 2011 as we awaited feedback from 
the regulatory authorities in the course of 
2011 and planned the continued develop-
ment of Huntexil®, which meant that fewer 
patients were enrolled in studies, resulting 
in lower costs. 

The cash flow from investing activities 
was unchanged at a cash inflow of DKK 
308 million in 2010 and DKK 301 million 
2011 and was mainly derived from sales 
of securities. 

The cash flow from financing activities 
was a cash outflow of DKK 44 million 
(2010: a cash inflow of DKK 49 million).  
In 2010, the inflow was mainly attributable 
to proceeds of DKK 27 million from the 
issuance of shares in connection with  
the exercise of warrants. In 2011, 
NeuroSearch repaid a share buyback 
credit obtained in 2009. The amount 
repaid was DKK 27 million. 

Cash and cash equivalents amounted 
to DKK 33 million at 31 December 2011 
(2010: DKK 26 million), and securities 
stood at DKK 188 million (2010: DKK 454 
million), totalling DKK 221 million (2010: 
DKK 481 million). Moreover, committed 
future contingent payments from our 
alliance partner Janssen totalled DKK 38 
million, and contingent payments from 
the divestment of Sophion Bioscience 
A/S totalled DKK 9 million. Total capital 
resources stood at DKK 268 million at 31 
December 2011 (2010: DKK 580 million).

Statement of movements in equity
Equity was reduced by the consolidated 
loss for the year in the amount of DKK 
678 million, of which DKK 329 million was 
attributable to the loss on discontinued 
operations.

Financial risks
For further details, see the discussion 
under “Risk management and internal 
control” on pages 26-27 and information 
on financial risks stated in note 24.

Related parties
The members of the company’s Executive 
Management, Board of Directors, sub-
sidiaries and associates are considered 
related parties. The associated companies 
are NsGene A/S and Atonomics A/S.   

Outlook for 2012
NeuroSearch expects an operating loss 
on continuing operations of approximately 
DKK 75 million excluding any eventual 
costs related to the phase III programme 
on Huntexil®. Costs mainly relate to the 
continuing organisation, fixed costs and 
continuation of the Open-HART study 
and the compassionate use programme. 
NeuroSearch is working on securing 
financing required to conduct the Prime-
HD study and the associated supportive 
studies in the Huntexil® development 
programme. The Prime-HD study will not 
be initiated before financing is secured to 
finalise the trial. No decision on preferred 
route of financing has been taken.
 
No further costs related to the 
discontinued operations are expected 
in 2012. The cash flow effect in 2012 is 
expected to be in the region of DKK 70 
million.
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Board of  
Directors 

Thomas Hofman-Bang  

Danish citizen, born 1964
CEO, NKT Holding A/S 

(Shareholder elected, inde-
pendent Board member, mem-
ber of the Audit Committee)
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors since April 2008.

Holds a large number of 
executive positions in the NKT 
Group.

Member of the Board of 
Directors in William Demant 
Holding A/S. 

Allan Andersen 

Danish citizen, born 1945
CEO, AA Consult ApS 
 

(Shareholder elected, depend-
ent Board member, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee)
Member of the Board of 
Directors since May 1989.

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Nordicom A/S and 
of Schaumann Properties A/S. 

Member of the Board of 
Directors of Greater Europe 
Deep Value Fund Ltd, Greater 
Europe Deep Value Fund II Ltd, 
Greater Europe Fund Ltd, GEF 
SPV Ltd and DVF SPV Ltd.

Anders Ullman 

Swedish citizen, born 1956
Executive Vice President, 
Nycomed

(Shareholder elected, inde-
pendent Board member)
Member of the Board of 
Directors since April 2008.

Member of the Board of 
Directors of Nycomed Private 
Ltd, Mumbai, India and Zydus 
Nycomed Healthcare Private 
Ltd. Navi Mumbai, India.
 

Ian Talmage 

British citizen, born 1950 
Senior Vice President, Global 
Strategic Marketing, General 
Medicine, Bayer Schering Pharma

(Shareholder elected, independent 
Board member, member of the 
Scientific Committee)
Member of the Board of Directors 
since September 2009.
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Lars Siim Madsen 

Danish citizen, born 1970 
Vice President, Project & 
Portfolio management, 
NeuroSearch A/S

Employee elected member  
of the Board of Directors since 
April 2004.

Mads P. Gersdorff Korsgaard 

Danish citizen, born 1971
Manager, Investor Relations & 
Corporate Communications, 
NeuroSearch A/S

Employee elected member  
of the Board of Directors since 
April 2008.

Torbjörn Bjerke 

Norwegian citizen, born 1962 
CEO, Karolinska Development 
AB

(Shareholder elected, 
independent Board member, 
member of the Scientific 
Committee)
Member of the Board of Direc-
tors since April 2006.

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Pergamum AB. 
Member of the Board of Direc-
tors in DBV Technologies S.A, 
Aprea AB and Axelar AB.

Torben Skov 

Danish citizen, born 1967
Laboratory Technician, 
Medicinal Chemistry, 
NeuroSearch A/S

Employee elected member of 
the Board of Directors since 
April 2004.
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Patrik Dahlen

CEO
PhD

(Born 1962, member of the 
Executive Management 
since 2010)

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Quantibact A/S
Member of the Board of 
Directors of Contura A/S. 

René Schneider

Executive Vice President
CFO
MSc. Econ.

(Born 1973, member of the 
Executive Management 
since 2011)

Karin Garre

Executive Vice President
CDO
MD

(Born 1957, member of 
Executive Management 
since 2010)

CEO of K 2 Holding ApS.
Member of the Board of 
Directors of Stemcare 
Danmark A/S, Stemcare A/S 
and Lægernes Test Center A/S.

Finn Eggert Sørensen 

Executive Vice President
CBO 
MSc. Pharm. 

(Born 1954, member of the 
Executive Management  
since 2004)

Executive  
Management



Corporate governance

Pursuant to the rules of NASDAQ OMX 
Copenhagen A/S, listed companies must 
state their position relative to the most 
recently updated “Corporate Governance 
Recommendations 2011”. This must be 
done applying the “comply or explain” 
principle. NeuroSearch has in accordance 
with the Danish Financial Statements 
Act, section 107b, prepared the statutory 
report on corporate governance which 
is available in full at the company’s 
website (www.neurosearch.com/Default.
aspx?ID=8477).

Board of Directors

All members of the Board of Directors 
elected by the shareholders at the general 
meeting are elected for terms of one year, 
whereas employee representatives are 
elected for four-year terms. The employee 
representatives are up for election again 
in 2012. 

Eleven Board meetings were held during 
2011. The Board performs its duties in 
accordance with a written set of rules of 
procedure. The rules of procedure include 
rules on the allocation of powers and du-
ties between the Board of Directors and 

the Executive Management and on minute 
books, the register of shareholders and 
other protocols.

The Board of Directors of NeuroSearch 
has set up two committees relative to the 
“Corporate Governance Recommenda-
tions 2011”– an Audit Committee with two 
members and a Scientific Committee with 
three members.

Remuneration

Members of the Board of Directors of 
NeuroSearch receive a fixed fee. The fee 
is fixed according to the standards in 
the market and reflects demands to their 
competencies and efforts in light of the 
scope of their work and the number of 
Board meetings.

The Chairman’s fee in respect of 2010 was 
DKK 900 thousand, and fees paid to each 
of the ordinary members amounted to DKK 
300 thousand, equivalent to a total of DKK 
3.0 million. For 2011, a proposal will be 
submitted to the Annual General Meeting 
that the fees to the members of the Board 
of Directors remain unchanged. No sepa-
rate fee applies for members of the Audit 
Committee and the Scientific Committee. 

Except for the members who are employ-
ees of NeuroSearch, and who receive 
their normal salaries in addition to their 
fees as Board members, the members of 
the Board of Directors do not receive any 
other remuneration from NeuroSearch.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab
Strandvejen 44 
DK-2900 Hellerup 
Denmark

Legal advisers

Kromann Reumert
Sundkrogsgade 5
DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø
Denmark

Bank

Nordea Bank Danmark A/S
Strandgade 3
P.O. Box 850
DK-0900 Copenhagen C
Denmark

Number of shares and warrants held by the members of the Board of Directors

Warrants* Shares

Begining 
of period Allocation Exercise

For-
feited

End of 
period

Begining of 
period

Excercise of 
warrants

Purc- 
hase Sale

End of 
period

Thomas Hofman-Bang  9,291  -    -   -   9,291   4,428 -  -    -   4,428
Allan Andersen 7,096  -     - 2,451   4,645  21,404 -  -    - 21,404
Torbjörn Bjerke  7.096  -    -   2,451   4,645 0 -  -    -   0
Anders Ullman  4.645  -    -    -    4,645 0 -  -    -   0
Ian Talmage  -   - -  -    -   0 -  -    -   0
Employee elected Board members 74,418 - - 19,118   55,300  2,226 -  -    - 2,226

Total 102,546  0 0 24,020    78,526 28,058 0 0    0 28,058

* Warrants relate to progammes from 2009 or previously.  As of 2010, the member of the Board of Directors do not paticipate in the company’s warrant programme.

Management  
structure 
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Management’s 
statement 
The Board of Directors and Executive 
Managent today considered and adopted 
the Annual Report of NeuroSearch A/S 
for the financial year 1 January – 31 
December 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU, and the financial 
statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Danish Financial Statements 
Act. Moreover, the consolidated financial 
statements and the financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with 

Executive Management

Patrik Dahlen
CEO

Board of Directors

Thomas Hofman-Bang
Chairman

Allan Andersen

Anders Ullman

Ian Talmage 

Lars Siim Madsen
Employee  
representative

Mads P. Gersdorff Korsgaard
Employee  
representative

Torbjörn Bjerke

Torben Skov
Employee  
representative

additional Danish disclosure requirements 
for listed companies. Management’s 
Review is also prepared in accordance 
with Danish disclosure requirements for 
listed companies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements and the financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities and financial position at 31 
December 2011 of the group and the 
company and of the results of the group 
and the company operations and consoli-
dated cash flows for the financial year 1 
January – 31 December 2011.

In our opinion, Management’s Review 
includes a true and fair account of 
developments in the operations and 
financial circumstances of the group and 
the company, of the results for the year 
and of the financial position of the group 
and the company as well as a description 
of the most significant risks and elements 
of uncertainty facing the group and the 
company.

We recommend that the Annual Report be 
approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Ballerup, 28 February 2012



Moreover, in our opinion, the Parent Com-
pany Financial Statements give a true and 
fair view of the Company’s assets, liabili-
ties and financial position at 31 December 
2011 and of the results of the Company’s 
operations for the financial year 1 January 
to 31 December 2011 in accordance with 
the Danish Financial Statements Act and 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies.

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our auditors’ report, we 
draw attention to note 1 “Basis of prepara-
tion of the Financial Statements” and Man-
agements Review sections on “Liquidity 
and Capital Resources” and “Expectations 
for 2012” both included in the “Financial 
Review” section, in which Management 
describes the uncertainty concerning the 
Company’s ability to continue its opera-
tions and the need for additional capital to 
further develop Huntexil®.

Statement on Management’s review

We have read Management’s Review in 
accordance with the Danish Financial 
Statements Act. We have not performed 
any procedures additional to the audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Parent Company Financial 
Statements. On this basis, in our opinion, 
the information provided in Management’s 
Review is consistent with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent 
Company Financial Statements.

Hellerup, 28 Feburary 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab

Mogens Nørgaard Mogensen
State Authorised Public Accountant

Brian Christiansen
State Authorised Public Accountant

To the Shareholders of NeuroSearch A/S
 
Report on Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Parent Company 
Financial Statements 

We have audited the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements and the Parent Company 
Financial Statements of NeuroSearch A/S 
for the financial year 1 January to 31 De-
cember 2011, page 39-69, which comprise 
accounting policies, income statement, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in 
equity and notes for the Group and the 
Parent Company as well as statement of 
total recognized income and expenses 
and cash flow statement for the Group. 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU, and the Parent Company Finan-
cial Statements are prepared in accord-
ance with the Danish Financial Statements 
Act. Moreover, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Parent Company Fi-
nancial Statements are prepared in accord-
ance with Danish disclosure requirements 
for listed companies.

Management’s Responsibility for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the 
Parent Company Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the prepa-
ration of Consolidated Financial Statements 
that give a true and fair view in accord-
ance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards as adopted by the EU and 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies, and prepare a Parent Company 
Financial Statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the Danish 
Financial Statements Act and Danish dis-
closure requirements for listed companies. 
Moreover, Management is responsible for 
such internal control as Management deter-
mines is necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Parent Company Financial Statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and additional re-
quirements under Danish audit regulation. 
This requires that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the au-
dit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the Parent Company Financial Statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing proce-
dures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the Con-
solidated Financial Statements and the 
Parent Company Financial Statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the Company’s preparation of Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and Parent 
Company Financial Statements that give a 
true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by Management, as well as evaluat-
ing the overall presentation of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Parent 
Company Financial Statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

The audit has not resulted in any 
qualification. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of 
the Group’s assets, liabilities and financial 
position at 31 December 2011 and of the 
results of the Group’s operations and cash 
flows for the financial year 1 January to 31 
December 2011 in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure 
requirements for listed companies.

Independent auditor’s reports
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The accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. The accounting 
policies are unchanged from previous years, 
except for the elements described in the section 
below. As at 31 December 2011, the company 
has discontinued operations which are disclosed 
in a separate line after the profit/(loss) for the 
continuing operations. The comparative figures 
have been restated. 

Basis of preparation 
The consolidatede financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the EU and additional Danish 
disclosure requirements for the annual reports of 
listed companies. Additional Danish disclosure 
requirements for the presentation of financial 
statements are imposed by the Statutory Order 
on Adoption of IFRS issued under the Danish 
Financial Statements Act and by NASDAQ OMX 
Copenhagen A/S. 

The financial statements of the parent company, 
NeuroSearch A/S, are presented in accordance 
with the provisions of the Danish Financial 
Statements Act. The financial statements are 
presented on pages 62-69, and the accounting 
policies are described on page 62. 

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgment or complexity, and areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
in note 1. 

The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in DKK, which is also the functional 
currency of the parent company. 
 
Adoption of new standards 
In the Annual Report 2011, NeuroSearch has 
applied all new and amended standards and 
interpretations that have come into force and 
been adopted by the EU with effect for the 
current financial year. 

The standards and interpretations applied are 
the following - only relevant standards are 
mentioned:

IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”
The amendment includes a change of the 
definition of related parties. 

“Annual improvements 2010“, including minor 
changes to some standards.
Among other things it specifies that contingent 
consideration related to business acquisitions 
in IFRS 3 applicable from 2010 only includes 
contingent consideration arising from business 
combinations completed from 2010 and 
onwards.

The implementation of the new and amended 
standards has not affected recognition or 
measurement. 

In addition, the IASB has issued the 
following amendments to standards and new 

interpretations which have been adopted by 
the EU, but which have not yet come into force; 
only standards relevant to NeuroSearch are 
mentioned.
 
Amendment of IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures”
This amendment involves a change to the dis-
closure requirements regarding derecognition of 
financial instruments. 

The amendment is not expected to have an 
impact on the accounting policies applied. 

In addition, the IASB has issued the following 
amendments to standards and new interpreta-
tions that have not yet been adopted by the 
EU; only standards relevant to NeuroSearch are 
mentioned.

IFRS 9 “Measurement and classification of financial 
assets and liabilities”
Financial assets and liabilities can be classified in 
one of two ways only: amortised cost or fair value. 

IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements” 
The existing definition of control in IAS 27 has 
been adjusted, and more guidance has been in-
troduced to determine whether a reporting entity 
controls another entity. 

Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of financial 
statements” 
Items included in other comprehensive income 
must be presented broken down into subtotals 
for those items that may be recycled to profit for 
loss and items not to be recycled. 

IFRS 12 “Disclosures of interests in other entities”
Extended disclosure requirements regarding 
interests in subsidiaries, associates and other 
interests. 

IFRS 13 “Fair value measurement” 
IFRS 13 provides general guidance on how to 
measure fair values and replaces the specific 
guidance included in a number of standards. 

Management will evaluate their impact on the ac-
counting policies applied when the amendments 
have been adopted by the EU. 

Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special 
purpose entities) over which the group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding 
of more than one half of the voting rights. The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are continuously exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the group 
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group. 

They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared by adding the audited financial 
statements of the parent company and the 
individual subsidiaries, all of which are prepared 
in accordance with the group’s accounting 
policies. On consolidation, intercompany 
income and expenses, shareholdings, balances, 
dividends and unrealised intercompany gains and 
losses are eliminated. 

All subsidiaries are consolidated:  

•  NeuroSearch Sweden AB 
•  Poseidon Pharmaceuticals A/S 
•  NsExplorer A/S 

Business combinations 
Newly acquired or newly established companies 
are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of acquisition. 
Comparative figures are not adjusted to reflect 
acquisitions. 

The purchase method is applied for acquisitions 
if NeuroSearch A/S gains control of the company 
acquired. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities in companies acquired are meas-
ured at the fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Identifiable intangible assets are recognised if 
they can be separated or arise from a contractual 
right and the fair value can be reliably measured. 
Deferred tax on revaluations made is recognised. 

The date of acquisition is the date on which 
control of the acquired company actually passes 
to NeuroSearch A/S. 

For business combinations, any excess 
(goodwill) of the cost of acquisition over the 
fair value of the acquired identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised 
as goodwill under intangible assets. Goodwill 
is not amortised, but is tested for impairment 
annually. The first impairment test is performed 
before the end of the year of acquisition. On 
acquisition, goodwill is transferred to the 
cash-generating units which will subsequently 
form the basis for future impairment tests. Any 
goodwill arising and any fair value adjustments 
made on the acquisition of a foreign entity 
whose functional currency is not the same as 
the group’s presentation currency are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated to the foreign entity’s functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the transaction 
date. Any excess of the fair value over the cost 
of acquisition (negative goodwill) is recognised in 
the income statement at the acquisition date. 

If the measurement of acquired identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
subject to uncertainty at the time of acquisition, 
initial recognition will be made on the basis of 
a preliminary calculation of fair values. If it later 
turns out that the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities had a different fair value 
at the time of acquisition than that originally 
assumed, goodwill will be adjusted until 12 
months after the acquisition. The effect of the 
adjustments will be recognised in the opening 
shareholders’ equity, and the comparative figures 
will be restated accordingly. Henceforth, goodwill 
will be adjusted only to reflect changes in 
estimates of contingent consideration, apart from 
material errors. However, where the acquired 
company’s deferred tax assets not recognised at 
the date of acquisition are subsequently realised, 
the tax benefit is recognised in the income 
statement and the carrying amount of goodwill 
will concurrently be written down to such amount 
as would have been recognised had the deferred 
tax asset been recognised as an identifiable 
asset at the date of acquisition. 

If part of the consideration is contingent on future 
events, such part is recognised at cost if pay-
ment is probable. Subsequent adjustments to the 
estimate of the amount of contingent considera-
tion are recognised as an adjustment of goodwill. 

Accounting policies 
for the period 1 January – 31 December (DKK thousands)
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For acquisitions made in financial years 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009, the cost of an 
operation is determined as the fair value of the 
agreed consideration. If part of the consideration 
is contingent on future events, such part of the 
consideration are included in cost at fair value. 

Acquisition costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred. Subsequent adjustments 
to the estimate of the amount of contingent 
consideration is recognised in the income 
statement. 

Any gains or losses on the disposal of subsidi­
aries and associates are stated as the difference 
between the sales or disposal amount and the 
carrying amount of net assets, including goodwill, 
at the date of disposal plus anticipated disposal 
costs.  

Segment reporting 
The group is managed as a single business unit. 
The internal management and reporting structure 
comprises only one business unit, and the group 
therefore has only one operating segment, for 
which reason no segment information is provided.  

Discontinued operations
Net profit after taxation of discontinued 
operations divested pursuant to a comprehensive 
plan or closed is presented in one line after profit/
(loss) from continuing operations. Write-downs 
related to assets of the discontinued operations 
are included in the item.

Foreign currency translation 
For each of the reporting companies in the 
group, a functional currency is determined. The 
functional currency is the currency used in the 
primary economic environment in which the 
individual reporting entity operates. Transactions 
in currencies other than the functional currency are 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. 

On initial recognition, transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at 
the transaction date. Exchange differences arising 
between the exchange rate at the transaction 
date and the exchange rate at the date of actual 
payment are recognised in the income statement 
under financial income or financial expense. 

Receivables, payables and other monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into the functional currency at the exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. The difference 
between the exchange rate ruling at the balance 
sheet date and the exchange rate ruling at the 
date when the receivable or payable arose, or the 
exchange rate applied in the most recent annual 
report, is recognised in the income statement 
under financial income or financial expense. 

On consolidation of companies with functional 
currencies other than DKK, the income statements 
are translated at the exchange rates ruling at 
the transaction date and the balance sheets 
are translated at the exchange rates ruling at 
the balance sheet date. The average exchange 
rate for each individual month is used as the 
transaction date, provided this does not give a 
much different view. Exchange differences arising 
on the translation of the opening equity of such 
companies at the exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date and on the translation of the 
income statements from the exchange rates ruling 
at the transaction date to the exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date are included in 
other comprehensive income and classified as a 
separate equity reserve for currency translation. 

Foreign exchange adjustment of balances that are 
considered as part of the overall net investment 
in companies with functional currencies other 
than DKK are recognised directly in equity in the 
consolidated financial statements in a separate re­
serve for currency translation. Similarly, exchange 
gains and losses on the part of loans and deriva­
tive financial instruments effectively hedging the 
net investment in such companies and which 
effectively hedge against corresponding exchange 
gains/losses on the net investment in the com­
panies are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and classified in a separate reserve for 
currency translation. 

On full or partial divestment of foreign entities or 
on repayment of balances that are considered to 
be part of the net investment, the attributable part 
of the accumulated exchange rate adjustments 
recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in the income statement together with 
any gain or loss on the divestment. 

Derivative financial instruments 
The group uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge expected transactions. When a contract is 
entered into, the group designates each derivative 
financial instrument that meets the conditions of 
IAS 39 as a hedge of a specific hedged item. 

All contracts are measured at fair value at the 
balance sheet date. Positive and negative fair 
values are included in other receivables and 
other payables respectively. The fair values are 
calculated on the basis of current market data 
and recognised valuation methods. 

Value adjustments of derivative financial 
instruments designated as hedges of expected 
transactions are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income if the hedge is effective. 
Accumulated value adjustments of these 
contracts are reclassified from equity to financial 
income/expense in the income statement when 
the hedged transaction has been recognised in 
the income statement. 

Contracts that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are similarly measured at fair value. 
Such contracts are included in the line item 
“Other financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss” under financial income/expense. 

The group does not use derivative financial 
instruments to hedge the fair value of a 
recognised asset or a recognised liability. 

Income tax and deferred tax 
Tax on income for the year, consisting of the 
year’s current tax and deferred tax, is recognised 
in the income statement to the extent that it 
relates to the income or loss for the year and in 
other comprehensive income or equity to the 
extent that it relates thereto. Current tax liabilities 
are recognised in the balance sheet as short-
term liabilities to the extent such items have 
not been paid. If the tax paid during the year 
exceeds current tax for the year and prior years, 
the amount expected to be repaid is recognised 
in the balance sheet under receivables. Current 
tax includes tax payable based on the year’s 
expected taxable income and any adjustments of 
prior year tax charged to the income statement. 

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary 
differences between accounting and tax values. 
Deferred taxes are measured according to cur­
rent tax rules and at the tax rates expected to be 
in force on the elimination of the temporary dif­
ferences. Deferred tax arising on tax-deductible 
temporary differences (tax assets) is included 
in the balance sheet only if there is reasonable 

certainty that the tax assets can be set off by 
NeuroSearch A/S against future taxable income. 
The amounts of tax-deductible temporary differ­
ences which are not capitalised are disclosed in  
a note to the financial statements. 

NeuroSearch A/S is jointly taxed with its Danish 
group companies. The jointly taxable income 
is stated as the sum of the individual results of 
the group companies after deduction of loss 
carry-forwards, as separate losses from previous 
assessment years may only be deducted and 
carried forward in the individual company. In case 
of carry-forwards, the oldest losses must be set 
off first. 

If the jointly taxable income is positive, the profit 
is distributed proportionately between the profit-
making companies. If the jointly taxable income 
is negative, the loss is distributed proportionately 
between the loss-making companies and carried 
forward in the company in question for set-off in 
subsequent years. 

Leasing 
Lease contracts under which substantially all 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership are 
transferred to the group are classified as finance 
leases. Assets held under finance leases are 
recognised in the balance sheet at the lower of 
the fair value and the net present value of the 
minimum lease payments at the inception of the 
lease, and the corresponding amount is included 
in liabilities. The present value of the future lease 
payments is calculated using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. The lease payments are 
deemed to comprise interest and repayments. 
Interest is charged to the income statement.  
The assets are depreciated over their expected 
useful economic lives like other similar groups 
of assets or over the shorter lease term, and the 
liability is reduced by the repayment portion of 
the lease payment. 

Lease payments for assets held under operating 
leases are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis. Commitments under operating 
leases are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.  

Share-based payment (warrants) 
NeuroSearch has established equity-settled 
share-based payment plans (warrants). The 
employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the warrants or shares are recognised 
as an expense and allocated over the vesting 
period. The amount is determined as the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted. The total 
amount recognised over the vesting period corre­
sponds to the fair value of the warrants or shares 
that actually vest. The fair value is determined at 
the grant date and is not adjusted subsequently. 

On each balance sheet date, NeuroSearch 
reassesses its estimates of the number of 
warrants expected to be exercised. NeuroSearch 
recognises any impact of such reassessment of 
the original estimates in the income statement 
(catch up) with a corresponding adjustment in 
equity over the remaining vesting period. Prior-
year adjustments are recognised in the income 
statement in the adjustment year. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue consists of milestone payments and 
other income from research and development 
agreements. Revenue is recognised when it 
is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to NeuroSearch and these benefits can be 
measured reliably. 
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Up-front payments that are attributable to 
subsequent research and/or development 
activities are recognised as deferred revenue and 
will subsequently be recognised as revenue over 
the expected contract period. Non-refundable 
up-front payments and milestone payments 
that are not attributable to subsequent research 
and/or development activities or other delivery 
obligations are recognised as revenue when 
the contracts are signed or when the milestone 
criteria are met respectively. 

Public grants 
The group receives government grants to 
certain PhD students and research programmes. 
Government grants are recognised at the time 
when a final and firm right to the grant has been 
obtained. Grants related to costs incurred are set 
off against research costs. Conditional repayment 
obligations regarding the grants received are 
disclosed in a note to the financial statements as 
contingent liabilities to the extent that they are 
not expected to become unconditional. 

Research costs 
Research costs include salaries, other costs, 
including patent costs, and depreciation 
attributable to the group’s research activities. 
Research costs are expensed in the year in which 
they are incurred. Government grants, if any, are 
set off against the research costs. 

Development costs 
Development costs include salaries and costs 
relating to specific development programmes. A 
specific development programme is characterised 
by a single compound being tested in a number of 
studies to illustrate the physical-chemical 
properties, toxicology and effect in humans. 
Development costs are capitalised if it is 
sufficiently certain that the costs are recoverable.  

General and administrative costs 
General and administrative costs include salaries, 
other staff costs, office costs, etc., as well as 
depreciation.

Financials 
Financial items comprise interest, financial 
expenses for finance leases, realised and 
unrealised currency translation adjustments 
and fair value adjustments of securities. Interest 
income and expenses are recognised in the 
income statement at the amounts relating to the 
relevant financial year. 

BALANCE SHEET 

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share 
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
included in “Intangible assets”. Goodwill 
on acquisitions of associates is included 
in “Investments in associates”. Separately 
recognised goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on 
the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill in respect of the entity sold.  

Development projects 
Development projects acquired in connection with 
business combinations are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

After completion of the development work, 
development projects are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful economic 
lives from the time the asset is ready for use. The 

amortisation period is expected to be 12 years. 
The basis of amortisation is reduced by any 
impairment write-downs. 

Due to the very long development periods 
and significant uncertainty in connection with 
the development of new products, in-house 
development cost are generally not deemed to 
meet the requirements for capitalisation. The 
criteria for technical viability are not deemed to 
have been met until regulatory approval has been 
obtained. All in-house research and development 
costs are therefore recognised in the income 
statement as incurred.  

Licences and patent rights 
Licences and patent rights acquired for 
consideration are measured at cost. 

Licences and patents have a finite useful 
life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 
trademarks and licences over their estimated 
useful lives (15-20 years), however, no longer 
than the licence agreement or patent period. 

Software
Software is recognised at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 
software over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, usually three years.

Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings are measured at historic 
cost, in the case of buildings less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Plant and 
machinery and other plant and equipment are 
measured at purchase price less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Historic 
cost and purchase price include expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the asset, including loan costs for specific and 
general borrowings relating to the construction of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying 
amount of the asset or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which 
they are incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the useful economic 
lives of the assets to the expected residual 
values. The depreciation is based on an 
estimate of the useful economic lives for uniform 
categories of assets. The residual value is 
reassessed annually to the amount management 
believes is recoverable for the asset on the 
balance sheet date if the asset was already so 
old and used as it will be at the time when the 
asset is expected to be sold. The residual values 
and useful lives of the assets are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet 
date. If the depreciation period or the residual 
value are changed, the effect on depreciation 
going forward is recognised as a change in 
accounting estimates. 

The expected useful economic lives are as 
follows: 
• Buildings		  40 years
• Plant and machinery	 5-10 years
• Other plant and equipment	 5-10 years
• IT equipment		  3-5 years

The carrying amount of an asset is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
carrying amount of the asset is higher than the 
estimated recoverable amount as described 
below. Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount. These are included in the 
income statement as research, development and 
general and administrative costs respectively.  

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have 
an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are 
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are 
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value 
of the asset less costs to sell and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that have previously suffered impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impair-
ment at each balance sheet date.  

Investments in associates 
Associates are entities over which the group has 
significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% 
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for by the equity 
method and are initially recognised at cost. 

The group’s investments in associates include 
goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) 
identified on acquisition. 

The group’s share of its associates’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in 
the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition income and costs recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in reserves. 
The cumulative post-acquisition movements 
are adjusted against the carrying amount of 
the investment. If the group’s share of losses in 
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the 
group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the group’s interest in the associates. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred. The accounting policies 
of associates have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the group. 

Financial assets 
Financial assets are recognised on the trading 
date – the date on which the group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. 

The group and the parent company classify  
their financial assets in the following categories:  

•  at fair value through profit or loss 
•  loans and receivables 

The classification depends on the purpose  
for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification  
of the financial assets on initial recognition and 
re-evaluates this designation at every  
reporting date.  
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Financial assets measured at fair value  
through profit or loss 
Financial assets designated as measured at fair 
value through profit or loss on initial recognition 
are those that are managed and whose perfor
mance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with a documented group investment 
strategy. The investments and returns thereon are 
included on this fair value basis in the manage-
ment reporting. Assets in this category are clas-
sified as current assets if they are expected to be 
realised within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date. Marketable securities have been designated 
by management as financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative finan-
cial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities 
longer than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date. These are classified as non-current assets. 
Loans and receivables are classified as “Other 
receivables” in the balance sheet. 

Receivables are recognised at amortised cost 
less impairment losses. On initial recognition, the 
fair value is deemed to correspond to amortised 
cost. An impairment loss is recorded on receiva-
bles when there is objective evidence that Neuro-
Search will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of receivables. 
Significant difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or finan-
cial reorganisation, and default or delinquency 
in payments are considered indicators that the 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the impair-
ment loss is the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
effective interest rate. The amount of the impair-
ment loss is recognised in the income statement 
under research costs or development costs.  

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in 
hand, deposits held at call with banks, short-
term investments with original maturities of 
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are stated as borrowings under current 
liabilities in the balance sheet. 

Financial liabilities 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost; 
any differences between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value 
are recognised in the income statement over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. 

Debt to mortgage and credit institutions is 
recognised at the time the loans are obtained 
and is initially measured at fair value, being the 
proceeds after deduction of transaction costs. 
In the subsequent periods, financial liabilities are 
recognised at amortised cost, calculated at the 
effective interest rate. 

In addition, the capitalised residual lease liability 
under finance leases is recognised under 
financial liabilities. 

Other liabilities, which comprise trade creditors, 
amounts owing to subsidiaries and associates 
and other debt, are measured at amortised cost. 

Contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration concerns the part of 
consideration in connection with business 
combinations that is contingent upon future 
events. If the future events are deemed to be 
probable (more than 50% probability), and the 
consideration can be reliably determined, such 
consideration is recognised as part of the 
consideration for the transaction and recognised 
as contingent consideration. For NeuroSearch, 
such future events will primarily be related to 
milestone payments. 

For business combinations made after 1 January 
2010 contingent consideration is recognised at 
fair value as of the date of acquisition. The fair 
value is determined as the net present value of 
the cash flows the probable future events may be 
expected to generate discounted at an effective 
rate of interest based on short-term government 
bonds. If the determined probabilities of future 
events change after the acquisition date, the 
contingent consideration and the related goodwill 
is adjusted accordingly. 

Contingent consideration denominated in foreign 
currency is adjusted to the exchange rate ruling 
on the balance sheet date. Such exchange rate 
adjustments are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and are classified under a 
separate currency translation reserve as it 
represents an effective hedge of the net 
investment in foreign subsidiaries. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

The statement of cash flows is prepared 
according to the indirect method based on net 
profit. The statement shows the group’s cash 
flows broken down by operating, investing 
and financing activities and cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the year. For the 
cash flow statement, cash flows from foreign 
subsidiaries are translated at average exchange 
rates for the year. 

Cash flows from operating activities represent the 
net profit/(loss) adjusted for non-cash operating 
items and changes in working capital. 

Cash flows from investing activities include cash 
flows from the purchase and sale of intangible 
assets, property, plant and equipment, long-term 
financial assets and marketable securities with 
original maturities of more than three months. 

Cash flows from financing activities include cash 
flows from capital increases, the raising and 
repayment of long-term debt and financial items. 

Capital resources 
The company’s capital resources include cash 
and cash equivalents, securities, listed shares, 
unused credit facilities and other kinds of 
unconditional commitments for liquidity-creating 
facilities. 
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Note Income statement 2011 2010

Revenue 0 0

Total revenue 0 0

3 Development costs 259,133 144,403
 2, 3 General and administrative costs 123,409 23,207

Total costs 382,542 167,610

Operating profit/(loss) (382,542) (167,610)

 11 Share of profit/(loss) of associates (5,910) (1,575)
Gain on sale of investments in associates 32,956 -

  4 Financial income 16,960 37,730
   5 Financial expense 10,543 14,361

Total financials 33,463 21,794

Profit/(loss) before taxes of continuing operations (349,079) (145,816)

  6 Tax on profit/(loss) for the year of continuing operations - 47,244

Net profit/(loss) of continuing operations (349,079) (98,572)

2, 3, 7 Net profit/(loss) of discontinued operations (329,339) (160,430)

Net profit/(loss) (678,418) (259,002)

Other comprehensive income:
15 Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments (19,074) (2,102)

Exchange adjustment of net investment in foreign subsidiary 1,815 58,978
Fair value adjustment of hedge of net investment in foreign subsidiary 841 (14,536)

Total other comprehensive income (16,418) 42,340

Total comprehensive income (694,836) (216,662)

  8 Earnings per share continuing operations, DKK (14.22) (4.02)
  8 Diluted earnings per share continuing operations, DKK (14.22) (4.02)
  8 Earnings per share for the year, DKK (27.63) (10.56)
  8 Diluted earnings per share for the year, DKK (27.63) (10.56)

Statement of total recognised income and expenses 
for the period 1 January – 31 December (DKK thousands)
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Note ASSETS 2011 2010

  9 Development projects 478,118 544,924
  9 Licences and patents - 181
  9 Goodwill 39,887 121,740
  9 Software - 2,766
10 Land and buildings 52,400 158,568
10 Plant and machinery - 37,561
10 Other plant and equipment - 3,624
10 Prepayments on property, plant and equipment - 1,165
 11 Investments in associates 1,129 9,558

Total non-current assets 571,534 880,087

Receivables from associates - 3,387
 12 Other receivables 48,642 27,501
 13 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 187,879 454,254
 14 Cash and cash equivalents 32,761 26,301

Total current assets 269,282 511,443

Total assets 840,816 1,391,530

  

Balance sheet  as of 31 December (DKK thousands)

Note EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2011 2010

Share capital 491,079 491,079
Reserve for currency translation 11,969 9,313

15 Other reserves (22,071) (2,997)
Retained earnings (160,345) 496,672

Total equity 320,632 994,067

16 Contingent consideration 55,017 56,833
16 Other contractual obligations 74,729 -
17 Mortgage debt 120,336 125,650
18 Other long-term debt 11,494 21,385

Total non-current liabilities 261,576 203,868

19 Current portion of long-term debt 24,072 79,045
Financial institutions - 26,774
Deferred income 2,688 7,766
Trade and other payables 26,877 48,020
Other liabilities 75,620 31,990

7 Provisions 129,351 -

Total current liabilities 258,608 193,595

Total liabilities 520,184 397,463

Total equity and liabilities 840,816 1,391,530

  1 Accounting estimates and judgments
20 Fees to auditors appointed at the general meeting
21 Related parties
22 Mortgages and collateral security
23 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and commitments
24 Financial risks
26 Events after the balance sheet date
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Note 2011 2010

Net profit/(loss) (678,418) (259,002)
25 Adjustments 308,184 (47,193)

Change in working capital:
Net change in receivables (12,187) (11,283)
Net change in current debt 127,685 (41,066)

Cash flows from operating activities (254,736) (358,544)

  9 Payments to acquire intangible assets - (751)
10 Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (3,589) (10,783)
10 Sale of property, plant and equipment 8,500 -

Investments in associates (1,775) (908)
Divestment of associates 31,684 -
Loans to associates - (5,409)
Net change in securities (more than three months) 266,375 325,458

Cash flows from investing activities 301,195 307,607

Net proceeds from equity issues (2,799) 27,095
Repayment of debt to financial institutions (26,773) -
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 1,267 11,888
Repayment of other long-term borrowings (18,309) (17,789)
Financial payments received/(paid) 2,606 27,357

Cash flows from financing activities (44,008) 48,551

Net cash flows 2,451 (2,386)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on securities 3,995 (377) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,446 (2,763)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 26,301 28,744
Foreign exchange adjustments of cash and cash equivalents 14 320

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 32,761 26,301

14 Cash and cash equivalents 32,761 26,301
13 Securities 187,879 454,254

Cash and cash equivalents and securities at 31 December* 220,640 480,555

* � Excluding future contingent payments from the collaborative partner Janssen of DKK 38 million (2010:  DKK 99.0 million) and contingent proceeds from the disvestment of Sophion Bioscience A/S of DKK 9 million  

(2010: DKK 0 million).

Statement of cash flows  for the period 1 January – 31 December (DKK thousands)
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Statement of movements in equity  (DKK thousands)

Share  
capital*

Share  
premium**

Reserve for  
currency 

translation

            Other  
reserves 

***

Retained  
earnings

Total

Equity at 1 January 2010 487,590 0 (35,129) (895) 722,261 1,173,827
Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments - - - (2,102) - (2,102)
Foreign exchange adjustment of net investment  
in foreign subsidiary - - 58,978 - - 58,978
Fair value adjustment of hedge of net investment  
in foreign subsidiary - - (14,536) - - (14,536)
Other comprehensive income 0 0 44,442 (2,102) 0 42,340
Net profit/(loss) - - - - (259,002) (259,002)

Total recognised income for the year 0 0 44,442 (2,102) (259,002) (216,662)

Rights issue:
- proceeds from share issue 3,489 23,731 - - - 27,220
- costs of share issue - (125) - - - (125)
Employee warrant programme:
- costs of share-based payment - - - - 9,807 9,807
Transfers - (23,606) - - 23,606 0

Equity at 31 December 2010 491,079 0 9,313 (2,997) 496,672 994,067

Equity at 1 January 2011 491,079 0 9,313 (2,997) 496,672 994,067
Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments - - - (19,074) - (19,074)
Foreign exchange adjustment of net investment
in foreign subsidiary - - 1,815 - - 1,815
Fair value adjustment of hedge of net investment   
in foreign subsidiary

 
 -

 
 -

 
 841

 
 -

 
 -

 
 841

Other comprehensive income 0 0 2,656 (19,074) 0 (16,418)
Net profit/(loss) - - - - (678,418) (678,418) 

Total recognised income for the year 0 0 2,656 (19,074) (678,418) (694,836)

Rights issue:
- proceeds from share issue - - - - - 0
- costs of share issue - (2,799) - - - (2,799)
Employee warrant programme:
- costs of share-based payment - - - - 24,200 24,200
Transfers - 2,799 - - (2,799) 0 

Equity at 31 December 2011 491,079 0 11,969 (22,071) (160,345) 320,632

*     Under Danish corporate law, share capital may not be used for distribution of dividends.	
**  �  In accordance with the Danish Companies Act, “Share premium” has been transferred to “Retained earnings”. Accumulated “Share premium” was DKK 2,411 million at 31 December 2011 (2010: DKK 2,408 

million).
***  Other reserves are specified in note 15.

No dividend has been paid during this or earlier reporting periods.

Share capital 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Share capital at 1 January 246,390 304,854 314,866 487,590 491,079
Equity issues 55,092 9,715 172,724 - -
Exercise of warrants 3,372 297 - 3,489 - 

Share capital at 31 December 304,854 314,866 487,590 491,079 491,079

The total number of shares is 24,553,947 (2010: 24,553,947 shares) with a nominal value of DKK 20 each (2010: DKK 20 per share). All issued shares are fully paid up. All shares 
carry the same rights. The company has issued warrants to the management and other employees. See note 3.

Treasury shares Number of shares Nominal  
value

Percentage of  
share capital

Market value  
DKK million 

1 January 2011 265,946 5,318,920 1.08 25.3
Adjustments - - - (20.6) 

Treasury shares at 31 December 2011 265,946 5,318,920 1.08 4.7
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The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements requires NeuroSearch to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reporting 
of assets, liabilities and expenses and the related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 
The estimates are reviewed on an on-going 
basis. The estimates are based on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions 
which NeuroSearch believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. However, the actual 
results may differ significantly from these 
estimates. NeuroSearch believes that the basis of 
preparation and the accounting policies relating 
to revenue recognition, share-based payment, 
cost of closing down operations, development 
costs, goodwill, contingent consideration and 
other contractual obligations, and deferred tax 
involve estimates or judgments by management 
that could materially affect the reported financial 
position and results of operations.

Basis of preparation
The Annual Report is prepared on a going 
concern basis. The company’s capital is 
considered to be sufficient to fund the current 
level of activity and a controlled closure of the 
discontinued operations. 

The funding of the start-up of additional phase 
III studies of Huntexil® will require additional 
capital. Management expects to raise additional 
capital to fund the additional phase III studies 
with Huntexil® and the continuing operation until 
reporting of the results.

Costs of closing down operations
NeuroSearch began a major restructuring 
of operations in September 2011 in order to 
optimise financial and management resources for 
completing the development of Huntexil® and for 
closing down the company’s other operations in 
a controlled manner.

Costs and provisions relating to the closure 
of the other operations, including contractual 
obligations under collaborative agreements 
and obligations to employees are stated in the 
income statement in a separate line item after 
profit/(loss) of continuing operations and was a 
loss of DKK 329 million in 2011 (2010: DKK 160 
million). Assets solely used in the discontinued 
operations have been written down to the 
expected net realisable value. Liabilities relating 
to the closure of the discontinued operations 
have been recognised as provisions.

Development projects and impairment tests
Due to the very long development period 
and significant uncertainty in connection with 
the development of new products, in-house 
development costs are generally not deemed 
to meet the requirements for capitalisation. The 
criteria for technical viability are not deemed to 
have been met until regulatory approval has been 
obtained. All in-house research and development 
costs are therefore recognised in the income 
statement as incurred. 

Acquired development projects are capitalised if, 
according to IAS 38, they are identifiable and can 
be separated. The carrying amount of in-house 
development costs was DKK 259 million for the 
group (2010: DKK 144 million); they have all been 
recognised in the income statement. 

The carrying amount of acquired capitalised 
development projects was DKK 478 million for the 
group (2010: DKK 545 million). 

In the impairment test, the discounted cash flow 
of each cash-generating development project is 
compared to the carrying amounts. The valuation 
is based on the cash flows generated by the 
projects individually during the period from 
expected launch of the product until five years 
after patent expiry. Material assumptions such 
as market and price expectations, expected 
market share and expected costs in connection 
with launch and production are based on an 
assessment of each development project. 

The cash flows determined based on this method 
are included for each project with a conservatively 
estimated probability that the project will be 
successful. In the calculation of discounted cash 
flows, a discount factor of approximately 12% 
was applied in 2011, which reflects the risks 
involved in the development of pharmaceuticals

Management has estimated that the following 
fundamental assumptions are critical to 
NeuroSearch: 

•  Huntington prevalence and number of patients      
    in treatment 
•  Year of regulatory and market approval
•  Any development of a competing drug
•  �Any changes in the legal framework for patents, 

rights or licences
•  �Any loss of efficacy of a pharmaceutical 

following a mutation of the disease it was to 
treat

•  �Any progress within medicine and/or 
technology that affects the medical treatment

•  �Lower-than-expected sales
•  �Any changes in the reimbursement policies of 

insurance companies/governments

As a consequence of the company’s changed 
strategy focusing on completing the development 
of Huntexil® against Huntington’s disease, 
NeuroSearch has fully written down the value 
of its other capitalised development projects 
(seridopidine and ordopidine), equivalent to an 
impairment charge of DKK 45 million in 2011 
(2010: DKK 0 million). 

Based on a review of the indicators set out 
above, management believes that there are 
no indications of impairment of the Huntexil® 
development project. 

Goodwill impairment test
In the annual goodwill impairment test, an 
assessment is made of how the parts of the 
group to which the goodwill relates will be able to 
generate sufficient cash flows in future to support 
the value of goodwill and other net assets in the 
relevant part of the organisation. As a result of the 
nature of the group’s business, expected cash 
flows must be estimated many years into the 
future, which naturally leads to a certain amount 
of uncertainty. This uncertainty is reflected in the 
discount factor applied

The carrying amount of goodwill was DKK 40 
million for the group (2010: DKK 122 million).  
The impairment test and the particularly sensitive 
factors in that connection are described in note 9. 

As a result of the company’s changed strategy 
focusing on completing the development of 
Huntexil® against Huntington’s disease, other 
capitalised development projects have been 
written down. Goodwill was written down by  
DKK 46 million in 2011 (2010: DKK 0 million) as  
a consequence thereof.

Based on a review of the indicators set out 
above, management believes that there are 
no indications of impairment of the remaining 
development project.

Contingent consideration and other  
contractual obligations
The contingent consideration concerns the 
acquisition of NeuroSearch Sweden AB in 2006.

Management assessed, as of the date of 
acquisition, the probabilities of future milestone 
payments materialising. Probable milestones 
were discounted as of the date of acquisition 
at an effective rate of interest of approximately 
12%. Management assesses on an annual basis 
the probabilities on which the calculation of 
contingent consideration was based. 

Other contractual obligations also relate to 
the acquisition of NeuroSearch Sweden AB. 
In December 2011, NeuroSearch A/S and the 
sellers of NeuroSearch Sweden AB renegotiated 
some of the terms of the original share purchase 
agreement entered into in 2006, including the 
outstanding, success-based milestone payments. 
Under the amended terms, two milestone 
payments have been cancelled and replaced 
by two new milestone payments in respect of 
Huntexil®, which are classified for accounting 
purposes as other contractual obligations.

Management assessed, as of the date of the 
agreement, the probabilities of future milestone 
payments materialising. Probable milestones 
were discounted as of the date of the agreement 
using an effective interest rate of approximately 
12%. Management assesses on an annual basis 
the probabilities on which the calculation of other 
contractual obligations was based.

Additional information regarding of contingent 
consideration and other contractual obligations is 
given in note 16.

Revenue recognition
NeuroSearch receives fees from partnership 
and licence agreements for the performance 
of research services, licence option fees, and 
licence fees such as up-front or milestone 
payments. Revenue is recognised from licence 
agreements and milestone payments under which 
NeuroSearch has no continuing performance 
obligations and NeuroSearch is certain that the 
company will receive the revenue. NeuroSearch 
has multiple performance obligations under 
contracts related to research services and related 
licence options which are deferred until the 
relevant licence option is exercised or lapses. 
Expenses incurred for the research services 
performed under such agreements are deferred 
up to the amount of the deferred revenue.

Revenues from conditional, non-refundable 
grants received from governmental agencies in 
advance of incurred expenses are recognised 
as deferred income. Revenues from funding 

1    Significant accounting estimates and judgments

Notes  (DKK thousands)
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2 Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 2011 2010

Intangible assets:
Recognised in: 
Development costs 90,679 -
Discontinued operations 2,947 3,199

Total 93,626 3,199

Property, plant and equipment:
Recognised in:
General and administrative costs 98,664 1,999
Discontinued operations 45,474 12,284

Total 144,138 14,283

received upon proof of incurred expenses are 
recognised when such expenses are actually 
incurred.

Consolidated revenue for 2011 was DKK 0 million 
(2010: DKK 0 million). All existing partnership and 
licence agreements concern the discontinued 
operations, and revenue from these agreements 
is consequently recognised in profit/(loss) from 
discontinued operations.

Share-based payment
NeuroSearch has established equity-settled 
share-based payment plans (warrants). The 
employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the warrants or shares are recognised 
as an expense and allocated over the vesting 
period. The amount is determined as the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted. The 
total amount recognised over the vesting period 
corresponds to the fair value of the warrants 
or shares that actually vest. The fair value is 
determined at the grant date and is not adjusted 
subsequently. In the determination of the fair 
value at the grant date, a volatility equalling the 

annual volatility of the company’s shares over the 
past three year is used. 

On each balance sheet date, NeuroSearch 
reassesses its estimates of the number of 
warrants expected to be exercised. NeuroSearch 
recognised any impact of such reassessment of 
the original estimates in the income statement 
catch up with a corresponding adjustment in 
equity over the remaining vesting period. Prior-
year adjustments are recognised in the income 
statement in the adjustment year.

In 2011, DKK 24 million was recognised in the 
group (2010: DKK 10 million), of which DKK 6 
million related to the continuing operations (2010: 
DKK 3 million).

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is 
likely that there will be sufficient future taxable 
income to utilise the temporary differences and 
unutilised tax losses.

Management has assessed whether the tax 
assets should be recognised as income in the 
income statement and as an asset in the balance 
sheet. Based on the applicable accounting 
criteria, management solely considers it possible 
to recognise the tax asset (a reduction in tax 
liability) in respect of NeuroSearch Sweden AB, 
as it reduces the tax liability provided in respect 
of assets for which the consideration exceeded 
the carrying amount when the acquisition was 
made. See note 16. The remaining tax assets in 
the group are currently not deemed to meet the 
criteria for recognition. So far, the decision is to 
continue to disclose the size of the assets in the 
notes to the financial statements. Management 
will regularly reconsider whether the accounting 
criteria for recognising the assets in the balance 
sheet and income statement have been met.

The carrying amount of unrecognised deferred 
tax assets was DKK 520 million for the group 
(2010: DKK 352 million), and for deferred tax 
liabilities DKK 0 million for the group (2010: DKK 
0 million).
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Warrant 
programme 

granted  
in 2005*

Warrant  
programme 

granted  
in 2006

Warrant  
programme 

granted  
in January  

2007

Warrant 
programme 

granted in  
September 

2007

Warrant  
programme 

granted  
in 2008

Warrant  
programme 

granted  
in 2009

Warrant  
programme

granted  
in 2010

Total

Sharebased payment
Outstanding at 1 January 2010 183,522 14,354 283,922 386,615 396,939 580,613 0 1,845,965
Granted during the period - - - - - - 650,000 650,000
Exercised during the period (174,439) - - - - - - (174,439)
Forfeited during the period in connection  
with resignation - - - (496) (9,391) (987) - (10,874)
Forfeited at expiry (9,083) (14,354) - - - - - (23,437)

Outstanding at 31 December 2010 0 0 283,922 386,119 387,548 579,626 650,000 2,287,215

Of which vested for exercise as at 31 December 2010 0 0 283,922 386,119 301,426 579,626 18,056 1,569,149

Outstanding at 1 January 2011 0 0 283,922 386,119 387,548 579,626 650,000 2,287,215
Granted during the period - - - - - - - 0
Exercised during the period - - - - - - - 0
Forfeited during the period in connection  
with resignation

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
(1,437)

 
-

 
(44,158)

 
(45,595)

Forfeited at expiry - - (283,922) (386,119) - - - (670,041)

Outstanding at 31 December 2011 0 0 0 0 386,111 579,626 605,842 1,571,579

Of which vested for exercise as at 31 December 2011 0 0 0 0 386,111 579,626 470,525 1,436,262

* � At 16 March 2010 and 22 March 2010 NeuroSeach issued 153,257 and 21,180 shares respectively at an exercise price of DKK 156.04 per share. The average share price at 16 March 2010 was DKK 171.61 and 
DKK 171.15 at 22 March 2010.

Board of Directors:
Fees 3,000 2,600
Share-based payment 23 236

Total 3,023 2,836

Total remuneration to the Executive Management and the Board of Directors 8,045 6,815

As at 31 December 2011, the CEO held 50,000 warrants (2010: 50,000 warrants).  

The company’s period of notice to the CEO is 12 months. In connection with major changes to the company’s ownership structure, this notice of termination for the company’s CEO  
is extended by a further 12 months during a transitional period. The period of notice to be given by the CEO to the company is 6 months. For additional information on remuneration  
to the Executive Management and the Board of Directors, see “Management structure” in the Management’s Review and the report on corporate governance on the corporate website.

Remuneration to the registered CEO and the Board of Directors:

Executive Management:

Salaries 3,192 3,323
Pension costs 318 373
Share-based payment 1,512 283

Total 5,022 3,979

3 Staff 2011 2010

Staff costs were:
Salaries and wages 133,401 126,833
Share-based payment 24,200 9,807
Pension 11,796 11,747
Social security costs 5,132 6,210
Other staff costs 8,699 7,952

Total 183,228 162,549

Recognised in:
Development costs 28,215 25,871
General and administrative costs 12,634 12,890
Discontinued operations 142,379 123,788

Total 183,228 162,549

Average number of employees 222 235
Number of employees at 31 December 189 243
Here off number of employees enganged in the discontinued operations 153 207
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Warrant  
programme

Outstanding  
at 31 December 

2011

Average  
exercise  

price

Latest  
exercise period

Market value  
per warrant on  

date of grant

Market value  
on date of grant of  

warrants outstanding at  
31 December 2011

Market value  
on date of grant of  

warrants outstanding at  
31 December 2010

2007-I 0 327.91 Marts 2011 66.47 0 18,872
2007-II 0 294.47 November 2011 76.17 0 29,411
2008 386,111 310.83 September 2012 64.52 24,912 25,005
2009 579,626 125.71 September 2013 35.62 20,646 20,646
2010 605,842 94.06 November 2014 50.03 30,310 32,520

1,571,579 75,868 126,454

Recognised cost of share-based payment:
Recognised in previous years 95,131 85,324
Recognised in current year for continuing operations 6,449 2,844
Recognised in current year for discontinued operations 17,751 6,963

Recognised share-based payment at 31 December 119,331 95,131

There were three warrant windows during the financial year: The last windows under the 2007-I programme and the two last windows under the 2007-II programme. No warrants were 
exercised during these windows. In 2012, the last two windows of the 2008 programme will be in March and August respectively, and a window under the 2009 programme will be in 
November 2012.

2010 2009 2008

Average share price on date of grant (DKK) 88.54 105.19 269.57
Exercise price (DKK) 94.06 125.71 310.83
Expected volatility* 77% 52% 36%
Expected term 48 months 51 months 49 months
Expected dividend per share 0 0 0
Risk-free interest rate (based on Danish government bonds) 2.48% 2.78% 4.29%

*  The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility over the past three years.

During the vesting period, which is three years, the warrant holder earns the right to exercise 1/36 of the warrants granted per month. The 2009 programme has a vesting period of 
one 12/36 of the warrants granted on resignation after 12 months of a vesting period of 36 months). The right to exercise additional warrants is forfeited, if a warrant holder leaves 
his or her position with NeuroSearch or one of its subsidiaries due to termination by NeuroSearch or one of its subsidiaries without this being due to breach of contract by the warrant 
holder, the warrant holder will retain the right to exercise the warrants.

If a change of control in NeuroSearch involves other parties than the existing shareholders, it would basically not affect the terms of the warrants issued. However, the Board of Direc-
tors may decide that warrant holders must exercise all warrants granted to them and transfer the shares on the same terms as the other selling shareholders or otherwise waive their 
right to exercise their warrants, whereby they will lapse. 

4 Financial income 2011 2010

Interest income 245 71
Net foreign exchange adjustments - 8,489
Net fair value adjustment of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 16,077 29,170
Financial element of contingent consideration 638 -

Total 16,960 37,730

5 Financial expense 2011 2010

Interest expense 9,357 10,659
Net foreign exchange adjustments 1,186 -
Financial element of contingent consideration - 3,702

Total 10,543 14,361

Staff (continued)
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7 Discontinued operations 2011 2010

On 27 September 2011, the group announced a comprehensive restructuring and controlled discontinuation of all the company’s operations 
with the exception of Huntexil® in order to release as many financial and managerial resources as possible to complete the development of 
Huntexil®.

Revenue 34,766 69,342
Costs 315,684 214,289
Depreciations and write-downs 48,421 15,483
Tax on income - -

Net profit/(loss) of discontinued operations (329,339) (160,430)

Earnings per share, DKK (discontinued operations)* (13.41) (6.54)

Cash flow from operation					     (163,586) (146,072)
Cash flow from investments (3,589) (11,532)
Cash flow from financing (11,497) 74

Net cash flow for the period					     (178,672) (157,530)

Provisions**		  129,351 0

*   Reference is made to note 8 for average number of outstanding shares used in the calculation of “Earnings per share” of discontinued operations.

**  Provision of DKK 129 million relates to expenses regarding discontinuing operations including contractual obligations from collaborative agreements.

The statement below shows the year’s movements in the potential tax asset:

Tax on pre-tax loss 170 77
Share of profit/(loss) of associates 7 -
Permanent deviations relating to share-based payment, etc, (5) (2)
Non-taxable income and other tax-deductible costs (23) (1)
Adjustment of deferred tax for prior years - 2
Foreign exchange adjustment of deferred tax 1 15
Higher tax rate in foreign subsidiaries 1 2

Change in deferred tax asset (increase of potential tax asset) 151 93

Breakdown of unrecognised deferred tax assets:

Tax losses carried forward (available indefinitely) 1,375 1,316
Research and development costs 508 418
Rights 262 124
Non-current assets 170 22
Patent costs 55 48
Assets held under finance leases 21 31
Provisions 190 -
Other (28) (9)

Total temporary differences 2,553 1,950

Calculated potential deferred tax asset at local tax rate 646 495
Set off against deferred tax liability* (126) (143)
Write-down of deferred tax asset (520) (352)

Recognised deferred tax asset 0 0

*  See note 16 for additional specifications.

6 Tax (DKK millions) 2011 2010

Calculated tax on the year’s loss - -
Change in deferred tax liability allocated to business combinations, see note 16 (18) -
Deferred tax asset relating to foreign activities offset against deferred tax 18 (47)

Tax on the year’s loss (income) 0 (47)

As of 31 December 2011, the group had tax losses carried forward of approximately DKK 1,375 million which can be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the group had net 
deductible temporary differences of approximately DKK 1,178 million.

In the financial statements, the value of the deferred tax asset has been written down to zero as a result of uncertainty as to the group’s ability to generate sufficient future taxable 
revenues for the tax asset to be utilised. However, the part of the deferred tax asset that relates to the Swedish activities has been recognised and offset against the deferred tax that 
was recognised in connection with the acquisition of NeuroSearch Sweden AB in 2006. See note 16 for a description.
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8 Earnings per share 2011 2010

Net profit/(loss) for continuing operations, DKK thousands (349,079) (98,572)
Net profit/(loss) for the year, DKK thousands (678,418) (259,002)

Average number of outstanding shares (in thousands) 24,554 24,518
Dilutive effect of outstanding warrants “in the money” (in thousands)* - 4

Average number of outstanding shares including dilutive effect of warrants “in the money” (in thousands) 24,554 24,522

Earnings per share for continuing operations, DKK (14.22) (4.02)
Earnings per share for continuing operations, diluted, DKK (14.22) (4.02)
Earnings per share for the year, DKK (27.63) (10.56)
Earnings per share for the year, diluted, DKK (27.63) (10.56)

* � Warrants have an anti-dilutive effect as a result of the loss for the year, and they have consequently not been taken into account in connection with the calculation of diluted earnings per share. The diluted 
earnings per share are therefore the same as the basic earnings per share.

9 Intangible assets Development projects Licences and  
patents

Goodwill Software Prepayments

Cost at 1 January 2011 667,312 19,683 137,391 4,149 0
Additions - - - - -
Reassessment of contingent consideration 
related to acquisition* (25,166) - (35,104) - -
Foreign exchange adjustment 2,926 - (636) - -

Cost at 31 December 2011 645,072 19,683 101,651 4,149 0

Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2011 122,388 19,502 15,651 1,383 0
Amortisation - 181 - 1,037 -
Impairment 44,566 - 46,113 1,729 -
Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2011 166,954 19,683 61,764 4,149 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 478,118 0 39,887 0 0

Cost at 1 January 2010 598,653 19,683 126,891 0 3,398
Additions - - - 751 -
Transfer - - - 3,398 (3,398)
Reassessment of contingent consideration related  
to acquisition* - - (2,863) - -
Foreign exchange adjustment 68,659 - 13,363 - -

Cost at 31 December 2010 667,312 19,683 137,391 4,149 0
   
Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2010 122,388 17,686 15,651 0 0
Amortisation - 1,816 - 1,383 -

Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2010 122,388 19,502 15,651 1,383 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 544,924 181 121,740 2,766 0

*  See note 16 for a description of movements in contingent consideration.

Goodwill represents the amounts paid in excess of the carrying amounts of assets on acquisition of development projects in connection with the business combination. Goodwill is  
thus allocated fully to the activities in NeuroSearch Sweden AB, where the acquired development projects are each considered independent cash-generating units.

Development projects represent the three development programmes, Huntexil®, seridopidine and ordopidine, which NeuroSearch acquired in connection with the acquisition of 
Carlsson Research in 2006. 

Due to the changed strategy with focus on completing the development of Huntexil® for Huntington’s disease, the company has written down the value of the other capitalised 
development projects (seridopidine and ordopidine) and goodwill related to those projects. As a consequense, the development projects have been written down by DKK 45 million 
(2010: DKK 0 million) and goodwill by DKK 46 million (2010: DKK 0 million).

Moreover, the carrying amount of intangible assets, including goodwill, was tested for impairment as of 31 December 2011.  The impairment of Huntexil® is a Value in use-test, while 
other assets are estimated at fair value.  The test did not result in a need to write down the carrying amounts any further as the recoverable amount of goodwill and development 
projects as a whole corresponds at least to the carrying amounts.

In the impairment test, the discounted cash flow of each cash-generating development project was compared to the carrying amounts. The valuation was based on the cash flows 
generated by the projects individually during the period from expected launch of the product until five years after patent expiry. Material assumptions such as market and price 
expectations, expected market share and expected costs in connection with launch and production were based on an assessment of each development project.  The cash flows deter-
mined based on this method were included for each project with a conservatively estimated probability that the project will be successful. In the calculation of discounted cash flows, 
discount factors of approximately 12% were applied, which reflects the risks involved in the development of pharmaceuticals.
 
Management has estimated that the following fundamental assumptions are critical to NeuroSearch: 

•  Huntington prevalence and number of patients treated 
•  Year of regulatory and market approval
•  Any development of a competing drug
•  Any changes in the legal framework for patents, rights or licences
•  Any loss of efficacy of a drug following a mutation of the disease it was to treat
•  Any progress within medicine and/or technology that affects the medical treatment
•  Lower-than-expected sales
•  Any changes in the reimbursement policies of insurance companies/governments.

Based on a review of the indicators set out above, management believes that there are no indications of impairment for the remaing develoment project.

Possible changes to the fundamental assumptions might result in the carrying amount of the remaining development project exceeding the recoverable amount. 
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11 Investments in associates 2011                         NeuroSearch A/S’s share

Name Registered  
office

Ownership  
interest (%)

Share 
capital

Equity Assets Revenue Net profit/ 
(loss)

Equity Profit/(loss)  
before tax

Net profit/ 
(loss)

NsGene A/S Ballerup 26.8 14,357 (12,634) 14,167 9,111 (15,208) (3,382) (4,339) (4,339)
Sophion Bioscience A/S Ballerup ** - - - - - - (36) (36)
Atonomics A/S Copenhagen *18.9 26,899 121,257 121,901 - (13,507) 22,917 (2,553) (2,553)

108,623 (28,715) 19,535 (6,928) (6,928)

Adjustment to group accounting policies (21,789) (3,893) (3,893)
Reversal of share of negative net asset value in associates 3,383 3,383 3,383
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on equity issues in associates - 1,682 1,682
Adjustment of prior-year profit/(loss) of associates - (154) (154)

Recognised value of investments in associates 1,129 (5,910) (5,910)

10 Property, plant and equipment Land and  
buildings

Plant and  
machinery 

Other plant  
and equipment

Prepayments

Cost at 1 January 2011 217,768 117,136 21,584 1,165
Additions 475 2,877 237 -
Foreign exchange adjustment - 102 - -
Transfers - 1,165 - (1,165)
Disposals 8,766 - - -

Cost at 31 December 2011 209,477 121,280 21,821 0

Depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2011 59,200 79,575 17,960 0
Depreciation 1,424 7,410 2,229 -
Impairment** 97,240 34,203 1,632 -
Foreign exchange adjustment - 92 - -
Disposals 787 - - -

Depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2011 157,077 121,280 21,821 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011* 52,400 0 0 0

*  Of which carrying amount of assets held under finance leases 0 0 0 0

**  The impaitment is based on an estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment. Fair value of land and buildings are based on the generel market level for sale of laboratory and office buildings.

Cost at 1 January 2010 216,286 108,017 20,433 1,619
Additions 1,482 6,858 1,278 1,165
Foreign exchange adjustment - 1,730 - -
Transfers - 1,709 (90) (1,619)
Disposals - 1,178 37 -

Cost at 31 December 2010 217,768 117,136 21.584 1,165

Depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2010 57,201 69,938 14,951 0
Depreciation 1,999 9,238 3,046 -
Foreign exchange adjustment - 1,504 - -
Disposals - 1,105 37 -

Depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2010 59,200 79,575 17,960 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010*** 158,568 37,561 3,624 1,165

***  Of which carrying amount of assets held under finance leases 0 27,437 3,267 0
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Invetments in associates 2010                         NeuroSearch A/S’s share

Name Registered  
office

Ownership  
interest (%)

Share  
capital

Equity Assets Revenue Net  profit/ 
(loss)

Equity Profit/ (loss)  
before tax

Net profit/ 
(loss)

NsGene A/S Ballerup 26.8 14,357 3,574 33,577 34,116 1,461 958 392 392
Sophion Bioscience A/S Ballerup 30.1 135,444 34,288 53,992 53,247 11,379 10,321 3,425 3,425
Atonomics A/S Copenhagen *18.8 16,343 40,423 105,997 6,041 (7,984) 7,599 (1,501) (1,501)
ZGene A/S Ballerup ***22.1 6,611 382 598 124 (1,098) 84 (234) (234)

78,667 3,758 18,962 2,073 2,073

Adjustment to group accounting policies (20,215) (3,472) (3,472)
Change in intercompany gains on IPR - 94 94
Reversal of share of negative net asset value in associates 10,895 3,985 3,985
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on equity issues in associates - (657) (657)
Adjustment of prior-year profit/(loss) of associates - 416 416
Write-down of investments in associates (84) (29) (29)

Recognised value of investments in associates 9,558 2,410 2,410

Write-down of receivables from associates (3,985) (3,985)

Profit/(loss) from investments in associates (1,575) (1,575)

*  �  The company’s investment in Atonomics A/S is recognised as an investment in an associate as NeuroSearch holds significant influence as a result of its ownership interest and directorships on the Board 
of Directors. NeuroSearch A/S has granted convertible loans to Atonomics A/S totalling DKK 15 million (2010: DKK 14 million). The loans were converted into shares in 2011. In the consolidated financial 
statements for 2010, an impairment loss was recognised on the loan amount receivable equivalent to the companys’ share of the negative net asset value.  The receivable of DKK 14 million had consequently 
been written down to DKK 3 million at 31 December 2010.

** � On 6 June 2011, NeuroSearch A/S sold its shares in Sophion Bioscience A/S. The total sales price was DKK 155 million, of which DKK 10 million is contingent on sales milestones in 2011/2012. NeuroSe-
arch A/S has received proceeds of DKK 41 million from the sale of its shares, of which DKK 32 million was received in September 2011, and the remaining DKK 9 million is expected to be received before the 
end of 2012. The profit on sale of the associate amounted to DKK 33 million which has been recognised in the income statement under financial items.

***  NeuroSearch A/S sold its shares in ZGene A/S on 27 January 2011. The divestment did not generate any revenue or costs.

12 Other receivables 2011 2010

Prepaid costs* 4,792 8,138
Project-related receivables ** 8,856 9,769
Other receivables*** 34,994 9,594

Total 48,642 27,501

*     Prepaid costs concern development activities, leasing, insurance, subscriptions, etc. 
**    Project-related receivables consist of receivables from the company’s partnership agreements.
*** � In connection with the sale of the shares in Sophion Bioscience A/S, NeuroSearch has been appointed to represent the sellers on behalf of all shareholders. Part of the proceeds has been deposited in an 

escrow account with Nordea Bank Danmark and, in its capacity as representative, NeuroSearch manages these proceeds, which are expected to be available for disbursement in December 2012 at the latest. 
The amount is DKK 29 million, of which DKK 9 million is remaining proceeds to NeuroSearch.

The carrying amount of other receivables largely corresponds to their fair values. Other receivables, etc. are not subject to any material credit risk as they primarily concern receivables 
from large international partners, prepaid costs and VAT.

As of 31 December 2011, there were no indications of impairment of other receivables, and consequently no impairment losses have been recognised thereon.

13 Other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss       2011       2010

Cost
Market  

value Cost
Market  

value

Breakdown of bonds and unit trusts:
Danish mortgage bonds 183,883 187,879 454,630 454,254

Total other financial assets measured at fair value 183,883 187,879 454,630 454,254

Terms to maturity of bonds:
Less than 1 year 1,133 1,119 2,761 2,726
Between 1 and 5 years 85,656 86,962 205,423 205,233
More than 5 years 97,094 99,798 246,446 246,295

Total 183,883 187,879 454,630 454,254

Mortgage bonds are callable by the debtor at par.

The bonds are at fixed interest, and price fluctuations as a result of changes in the interest rate market therefore affect the fair value of the bond portfolio.

Financial assets which are measured through profit or loss on initial recognition (securities) are financial assets that are managed and whose return is evaluated on the basis of 
changes in their fair values, in accordance with the group’s documented investment strategy. Information on such financial assets at fair value is used in the internal reporting to the 
company’s management. It is the group’s investment strategy to invest free cash in securities as part of its long-term strategy of securing its capital resources. 

The credit risk of investments in bonds and unit trusts is handled by collaborating only with financial institutions with satisfactory creditworthiness. Danish mortgage bonds are deemed 
not to involve any material credit risk.

Investments in associates (continued)
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2011 2010

Contingent consideration at 1 January 116,833 101,457
Write-down 60,270
Foreign exchange adjustment and amortisation (1,546) 15,376

Contingent consideration at 31 December 55,017 116,833

Current liabilities 0 60,000
Non-current liabilities 55,017 56,833

Other contractual obligations
In December 2011, NeuroSearch A/S and the sellers of Carlsson Research AB signed an agreement under which some of the terms of the original share purchase agreement were 
renegotiated. It was agreed that two of the original milestone payments, a total of SEK 150 million, would be cancelled and be replaced partly by an initial payment and future pay-
ments to be settled in connection with and subject to successful achievement of certain milestones agreed upon in advance relating to the development programmes for Huntexil®. As 
of the date of the agreement, the cost totalled SEK 160 million (DKK 132 million). The present value of other contingent liabilities equals DKK 82 million, which has been adjusted for 
estimated probabilities and timing of achievement of milestones. The initial payment falls due in 2012. 

No milestone payments were made in 2011 (2010: DKK 0 million).

As of 31 December 2011, management has reassessed the probability and timing of the achievement of milestones under the admended terms of the agreement, and it was not deemed 
necessary to make any additional adjustments except for exchange rate adjustment and amortisation of other contratual obligations to the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date

16 Acquisition of subsidiaries and operations 

In 2006, NeuroSearch acquired all the shares in Carlsson Research AB (now NeuroSearch Sweden AB). The contingent consideration and the deferred tax related to the acquisition 
are described below. 

In December 2011, NeuroSearch A/S and the sellers of Carlsson Research AB renegotiated some of the terms of the original share purchase agreement, including the outstanding 
success-based milestone payments. Under the amended terms, two milestone payments totalling SEK 150 million have been cancelled and replaced by two new milestone payments 
in respect of Huntexil® totalling SEK 150 million, which are classified for accounting purposes as contractual obligations. Other contractual obligations related to the amended share 
purchase agreement are also described below.

No acquisitions were made in 2011 and 2010.

Contingent consideration 
When the share purchase agreement was signed, the consideration was agreed to be partly an initial payment and partly future payments to be settled in connection with and subject 
to successful achievement of certain milestones agreed upon in advance relating to the development programmes for Huntexil®, seridopidine and ordopidine. As of the date of acqui-
sition, the estimated consideration totalled SEK 875 million (DKK 707 million). The present value of the contingent consideration equals DKK 55 million, which has been adjusted for 
estimated probabilities and timing of achievement of milestones, including the two cancelled milestone payments.

No milestone payments were made in 2011 (2010: DKK 0 million).

As of 31 December 2011, management has reassessed the probability and timing of the achievement of the last milestone under the agreement, and it was not deemed necessary to 
make any additional adjustments except for exchange rate adjustment and amortisation of the contingent consideration to the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.

14 Cash 2011 2010

Money market accounts 32,761 26,301

Total 32,761 26,301

NeuroSearch is subject to credit risk with respect to bank deposits. The maximum credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount. 

The credit risk involved in cash is handled by only collaborating with financial institutions with satisfactory creditworthiness. No credit risk is considered to exist in relation to cash as 
the counterparties are Nordea and Danske Bank.

15 Other reserves 2011 2010

Other reserves comprise the fair value of financial instruments recognised in other comprehensive income. A breakdown is given below:

Interest rate swap:
Adjustment of hedge of cash flows for the year: (2,997) (895)
Deferred gain/(loss) on hedge of cash flows at 1 January

Effect of hedged expected transactions recognised in the income statement in financial income or expense 1,997 1,036
Fair value adjustment for the year relating to hedge of cash flows (21,071) (3,138)

Adjustment of hedge of cash flows for the year recognised in other comprehensive income (19,074) (2,102)

Deferred gain/(loss) relating to hedge of cash flows at 31 December recognised in other reserves (22,071) (2,997)
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17 Mortgage debt 2011 2010

Breakdown of debt to financial institutions stated in the balance sheet:

Total debt 126,565 132,084

Current liabilities 6,229 6,434
Non-current liabilities 120,336 125,650
Of which with maturity of more than five years 93,562 95,368

Mortgage debt consists of two mortgage-backed loans with terms to maturity of 10 years, 19 years and 27 years respectively. All three mortgages have floating rates of 3.10% for 
one of the loans and 1.83% for the other two as at 30 December 2011. Interest rate swaps have been entered into for all three mortgages, which had a negative fair value of DKK 22 
million at 30 December 2011 (2010: DKK 3 million) as hedges of the interest rate risk on floating-rate loans with a principal of DKK 128 million.
 
The fair value of the mortgage debt, which corresponds to the market value of the underlying bonds, totalled DKK 128 million at 30 December 2011 (2010: DKK 135 million).

18 Finance leases 2011 2010

Breakdown of liabilities under finance leases in the balance sheet:

Total liabilities 22,473 33,996

Current liabilities 10,979 12,611

Non-current liabilities 11,494 21,385

The gross at net lease liability is as follows:
Maturing:
Within 1 year 11,632 13,881
Between 1 and 5 years 11,922 22,397
Minimum lease payments 23,554 36,278
Future interest rate on leases (1,085) (2,288)

Present value of lease liability 22,469 33,990

The group’s finance leases primarily concern laboratory equipment and IT equipment. The leases are concluded as and when new laboratory equipment is acquired and are motivated 
by financing requirements. The leases include options to buy the leased assets on expiry of the leases at prices which are expected to be substantially below market price.  
NeuroSearch expects to exercise these options, and the purchase price is consequently recognised in the aggregate lease liability. Payments on the leases are variable based on fluc-
tuations in the reference rate of interest CIBOR (1-3 month rate of interest) and the Nationalbank’s (the Danish central bank) rate for certificates of deposit. The basic rate of interest 
on the leases at 31 December 2011 was between 0.30% and 1.38% respectively.

19 Current portion of long-term debt 2011 2010

Contingent consideration - 60,000
Other contractual obligations 6,864 -
Mortgage debt 6,229 6,434
Liabilities under finance leases 10,979 12,611

Total debt 24,072 79,045

Breakdown of deferred tax: 2011 2010

Carrying amount of development projects. See note 9 478,118 544,924
Tax rate in Sweden 26.3% 26.3%
Deferred tax at 31 December (125,913) (143,315)
Offset of tax asset used, beginning of year 143,315 96,133
Offset of tax asset for the year. See note 6 (17,402)� 47,244
Adjustment - (62)

Carrying amount at 31 December 0 0

2011 2010

Other contractual obligations at 1 January 0 0
Addtions 80,704 -
Foreign exchange adjustment and amortisation 889 -

Other contractual obligations at 31 December 81,593 0

Current liabilities 6,864 0
Non-current liabilities 74,729 0

Deferred tax
In connection with the business combination, deferred tax was recognised in the consolidated financial statements on the difference between the value of the net assets acquired and 
the fair values. No deferred tax is recognised on goodwill.

Acquisition of subsidiaries and operations (continued)
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Based on the financial assets and liabilities, 
the group is exposed to certain financial risks, 
primarily interest rate risks, liquidity risks and 
foreign currency risks. Group policy is to not 
actively conduct speculation in financial risks. 
Accordingly, the group’s financial management 
exclusively involves the management of finan-
cial risks that arise as a direct consequence 
of the group’s operations and financing. The 
general framework for the financial risk man-
agement is laid down in the annual strategic 
planning, which takes into account factors 
such as the scientific, commercial and finan-
cial risks. In this connection, reference is made 
to “Risk management and internal control” in 
the Management’s Review. 

For a description of the accounting policies 
and method applied, including the recognition 
criteria and basis of measurement, see the 
relevant section under “Accounting policies”.

Hedging of net investments in foreign subsidiary
The part of the group’s non-current liabilities 
that relates to contingent consideration for the 
acquisition of Carlsson Research AB is classi-
fied in the consolidated financial statements as 
hedging of net investment in foreign subsidi-

ary. The fair value of the contingent considera-
tion was DKK 55 million at 31 December 2011 
(2010: DKK 117 million). Translation losses on 
the translation of the contingent consideration 
at the DKK/SEK exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date is recognised in other comprehen-
sive income in a separate reserve for currency 
translation under equity as it is an effective 
hedge (see statement of movements in equity 
on page 47).

Interest rate risk
The general purpose of managing interest rate 
risk is to limit the adverse impact of interest-
rate fluctuations on earnings and the balance 
sheet. Fluctuations in the interest rate level af-
fect both the company’s income statement and 
balance sheet. NeuroSearch is primarily expo
sed to interest rate risks in connection with 
interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Excess 
cash is primarily invested in investment-grade, 
short-term, liquid government and mortgage 
bonds, unit trusts, or in money market depos-
its, all denominated in DKK.

The weighted average duration of the bond 
portfolio at 31 December 2011 was 3.18 years. 
The risk of mortgage bonds being redeemed 

has been taken into account in the calculation 
of the duration of the bond portfolio.

The bonds are at fixed interest, and price 
fluctuations as a result of changes in the 
interest rate market therefore affect the fair 
value of the bond portfolio. 

The company’s portfolio of securities is 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
and changes in market interest rates will 
consequently affect net profit. 

Mortgage debt is measured at amortised cost. 
The mortgage debt is obtained at variable 
interest. Interest rate swaps are used to fully 
hedge the underlying variable interest rate. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost equivalent to the nominal value as 
loans have been contracted at floating rates 
equivalent to the market rate, and changes in 
the market rate would consequently affect net 
profit.

As at 31 December 2011, fluctuations in 
interest rates of +/- 1 percentage point would 
– everything else being equal – have had an 

24 Financial risks

23 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent assets
The group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of DKK 646 million (2010: DKK 495 million). See note 6 for a breakdown of the tax asset.

Contingent liabilities
In connection with the closure of discontinued operations, major rental, lease and contingent liabilities have been accrued under other liabilities. There are no material outstanding 
contingent liabilities. 

Information regarding takeover of control of NeuroSearch and contractual obligations
The EU Takeover Directive, which has been implemented as part of the Danish Financial Statements Act, includes certain rules requiring listed companies  
to provide information that may be of interest to the market and potential bidders, in particular in relation to information on change of control clauses.  

For information on share capital and ownership, see “Shareholder information”  in Management’s Review page 23-25. See note 3 for information regarding “change of control” clauses 
in relation to the company’s warrant programme and contracts with the Executive Management. 

NeuroSearch has no material contractual obligations other than under the collaborative and licence agreements with Lilly and Janssen. 

Lilly can terminate the collaborative agreement in the event of material breach of the agreement by NeuroSearch, in the event that NeuroSearch is in breach  
of certain financial covenants, or in the event of a change of control of NeuroSearch. The Janssen agreement does not include any “change of control” clauses, but Janssen can 
terminate the agreement in full or in part at 60 days’ notice. However, any such termination would not have any impact on the contingent research funding. 

20 Fees to auditors appointed at the general meeting 2011 2010

Audit 628 588
Other assurance engagements 14 82
Tax advice 775 756
Non-audit services 1,112 419

Total fees 2,529 1,845

21 Related-party transactions

NeuroSearch related parties
Related parties comprise the company’s Executive Management, Board of Directors, subsidiaries and the associates NsGene A/S and Atonomics A/S.

Transactions with related parties 
During the year, there were minor transactions with associated companies, all of which took place on an arm’s length basis.

For information on remuneration paid to the members of the Executive Management and the Board of Directors, please see note 3 “Staff”.  
See “Shareholder information” for a description of warrants issued to the members of the company’s Executive Management and the Board of Directors.

22 Mortgages and collateral security

Nordea Bank Danmark A/S has issued a guarantee to Nordea Finans Danmark A/S for mortgage loans totalling DKK 49 million (2010: DKK 94 million).  
In security of Nordea’s guarantee, a mortgage for DKK 132 million has been registered on the land and buildings. In security of a loan with Nordea Kredit  
Realkreditaktieselskab of DKK 77 million (2010: DKK 38 milion), a corresponding mortgage has been registered on the land and buildings. The carrying amount of land  
and buildings at 31 December 2011 was DKK 54 million (2010: DKK 159 million).
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The table below shows the effect on net profit/(loss) and equity of probable changes in the financial variables on the balance sheet date.

The consolidated income statement is also affected by changes in the exchange rate of SEK to DKK, because the results of the subsidiary NeuroSearch Sweden AB are translated 
into DKK at the end of the year using average exchange rates.

                        2011                        2010

Fluctuation Effect Fluctuation Effect
EUR +/- 2% 131 +/- 2% 683
GBP +/- 5% 349 +/- 5% 1,379
SEK +/- 5% 1,989 +/- 5% 3,194
USD +/- 10% 394 +/- 10% 1,531

Liquidity risk: 
A breakdown of the company’s aggregate  
liquidity risk on financial assets and liabilities based on 
contractual due dates is given below:

<12 months 1-2 years 3-5 years > 5 years Total* Fair  
value**

Carrying  
amount

At amortised cost
Mortgage debt 10,627 10,661 32,049 131,498 184,835 127,784 126,565
Lease liability 11,632 7,015 4,907 - 23,554 22,469 22,473
Trade and other creditors 26,877 - - - 26,877 26,877 26,877
Other liabilities 182,900 - - - 182,900 182,900 182,900
At fair value
Hedging instruments 22,071 - - - 22,071 22,0712) 22,071

Total financial liabilities at 31 December 2011 254,107 17,676 36,956 131,498 440,237 382,101 380,886

Loans and receivables
Other receivables 43,850 - - - 43,850 43,850 43,850
Cash 32,761 - - - 32,761 32,761 32,761
At fair value
Other financial assets at fair value 187,879 - - - 187,879 187,8791) 187,879

Total financial assets at 31 December 2011 264,490 0 0 0 264,490 264,490 264,490

Net total at 31 December 2011 10,383 (17,676) (36,956) (131,498) (175,747) (117,611) (116,396)

At amortised cost
Mortgage debt 14,141 14,132 42,433 134,676 205,382 134,957 132,084
Lease liability 13,884 11,442 10,951 - 36,277 33,990 33,996
Trade and other creditors 48,020 - - - 48,020 48,020 48,020
Other liabilities 28,993 - - - 28,993 28,993 28,993
At fair value
Hedging instruments 2,997 - - - 2,997 2,9972) 2,997

Total financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 108,035 25,574 53,384 134,676 321,669 248,957 246,090

Loans and receivables
Receivables from associates 3,387 - - - 3,387 3,387 3,387
Other receivables 19,363 - - - 19,363 19,363 19,363
Cash 26,301 - - - 26,301 26,301 26,301
At fair value
Other financial assets at fair value 454,254 - - - 454,254 454,2541) 454,254

Total financial assets at 31 December 2010 503,305 0 0 0 503,305 503,305 503,305

Net total at 31 December 2010 395,270 (25,574) (53,384) (134,676) 181,636 254,348 257,215

*   All cash flows are non-discounted and include all liabilities under contracts entered into, including, among other things, future interest payments on loans.
**  The fair value of financial liabilities is determined as the discounted cash flows based on the market rates and credit conditions on the balance sheet date.

1)   Level 1 – Observable market prices of identical instruments
2)   Level 2 – Valuation models primarily based on observable prices or traded prices of comparable instruments
3)   Level 3 – Valuation models primarily based on non-observable prices

The company ensures it has sufficient capital resources through a combination of cash management, highly liquid marketable securities and non-guaranteed and guaranteed credit facilities.
See the cash flow statement on page 46 for a specification of capital resources as of 31 December 2011 and 2010.

effect on pre-tax profit of +/- DKK 11 million 
(2010: DKK 15 million), primarily as a result of 
changes in the fair values of securities. The  
total effect on equity is correspondingly DKK 
25 million (2010: DKK 15 million).

The interest rate risk profile of securities is 
disclosed in note 13, and for loans in notes  
17 and 18. 

Foreign exchange risk
The general objective of currency risk manage-
ment is to limit the short-term adverse impact 

of exchange-rate fluctuations on earnings and 
cash flows and thus increase the predict-
ability of the financial results. The company’s 
transactions denominated in foreign currency 
are limited and are not deemed to have any 
significant impact on the income statement and 
balance sheet. However, the group’s policy is 
that management regularly evaluates the need 
to hedge expected exchange rate risks as a 
result of future transactions denominated in 
foreign currency.

As at 31 December 2011, the group had not 
entered into forward currency contracts. 
Exchange-rate risks primarily relate to project 
revenue and costs to and from foreign 
partners. It is management’s strategy to seek 
to offset exchange-rate risks by matching 
revenue and costs in the same currencies. In 
the research and partnership agreement with 
Janssen, the agreed cash flows are in EUR, 
which is not currently deemed to involve a 
material exchange rate risk relative to DKK. 

Financial risks (continued)
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25 Adjustments 2011 2010

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment, see notes 2  and 3 237,764 17,482
Losses/gains on sales of non-current assets (521) -
Financial income and expense (6,417) (23,369)
Changed milestone payment, see note 16 80,704 -
Profit/(loss) from investments in associates 5,910 1,575
Gain on sale of investments in associates (32,956)
Share-based payment 24,200 9,807
Tax for the year - (47,244)
Currency adjustment (500) (5,444)

Total 308,184 (47,193)

26 Events after the balance sheet date

No material events have taken place after the balance sheet date.
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the parent company 
are presented in accordance with the Danish 
Financial Statements Act (reporting class D) 
and other accounting regulations applicable to 
companies listed on NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen 
A/S.

The accounting policies of the parent company 
are the same as those of the group, however, 
with the addition of the policies described below. 
The group’s accounting policies are described on 
pages 40-43 of the Annual Report.

Supplementary accounting policies for the parent 
company

Discontinued operations 
In the financial statements of the parent 
company profit/(loss) from discontinued 
operations is recognised in the line items they 
relate to. Reference is made to note 22 for a 
breakdown of the amount by which discontinued 
operations are included in selected items.

Note  2011 2010

Revenue 37,468 109,688

Total revenue 37,468 109,688

1, 2 Research costs 290,158 190,091
 2 Development costs 192,069 55,854
1, 2 General and administrative costs 130,453 38,852

Total costs 612,680 284,797

Operating profit/(loss) (575,212) (175,109)

8 Share of profit/(loss) of subsidiaries after tax (119,442) (109,410)
8 Share of profit/(loss) of associates (5,910) (1,575)

Gain on sale of investments in associates 32,956 -
3 Financial income 20,179 33,077
4 Financial expense 11,237 14,758

Total financials (83,454) (92,666)

Profit/(loss) before taxes (658,666) (267,775)

5 Tax on profit/(loss) for the year - -

Net profit/(loss) (658,666) (267,775)

Allocation of loss
Reserve for net revaluation according to the equity method 0 0

Retained earnings (658,666) (267,775)

(658,666) (267,775)

No dividend has been paid during this or earlier reporting periods.

Income statement  for the period 1 January – 31 December (DKK thousands)	

Financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are 
recognised in the parent company financial 
statements under the equity method, i.e. at the 
proportionate share of the net asset value of 
these companies. Positive differences between 
historic cost and net asset value on the date 
of acquisition are recognised in the parent 
company’s financial statements under financial 
assets as part of the investments in subsidiaries 
(goodwill). Goodwill is amortised on a straight-
line basis over the expected life of patents, 
estimated to be 20 years. Goodwill arising on 
acquisitions is amortised over the residual life of 
the patents. 

A proportionate share of the profit/(loss) after 
tax less amortisation of goodwill and unrealised 
intra-group gains is recognised in the income 
statement under the line items “Share of profit/
(loss) of subsidiaries” and “Share of profit/(loss) 
of associates”.

Net revaluation of investments in subsidiaries 
and associates exceeding the dividend declared 
by the companies is recognised in equity as 
reserve for net revaluation according to the 
equity method.

Subsidiaries and associates with a negative 
carrying amount are recognised at DKK 0. A 
provision is made if the parent company has 
a legal or constructive obligation to cover the 
company’s negative balance. 

Statement of cash flows
In accordance with section 86(4) of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act, a separate statement 
of cash flows has not been prepared for the 
parent company as it is included in the group. 
See the consolidated statement of cash flows on 
page 46.
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Note ASSETS 2011 2010

  6 Licences and patents - 181
  6 Software - 2,766
  7 Land and buildings 52,400 158,568
  7 Plant and machinery - 35,884
  7 Other plant and equipment - 3,624
  7 Prepayments on property, plant and equipment - 1,165
  8 Investments in subsidiaries 478,893 615,169
  8 Investments in associates 1,129 9,558

Total fixed assets 532,422 826,915

Receivables from associates - 3,387
  9 Other receivables 46,630 21,465
10 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 187,879 454,254
11 Cash 31,728 24,726

Total current assets 266,237 503,832

Total assets 798,659 1,330,747

Balance sheet  as of 31 December (DKK thousands)

Note EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2011 2010

Share capital 491,079 491,079
Reserve for currency translation 11,969 9,313

12 Other reserves (22,071) (2,997)
Retained earnings (174,587) 462,677

Total equity 306,390 960,072

22 Provisions 108,000 -

Total provisions 108,000 0

13 Contingent consideration 55,017 56,833
13 Other contractual obligations 74,729 -
14 Mortgage debt 120,336 125,650
15 Other long-term debt 11,494 21,385

Total non-current liabilities 261,576 203,868

16 Current portion of long-term debt 24,072 79,045
Financial institutions - 26,774
Deferred income 2,688 7,766
Trade and other payables 26,293 28,070
Other liabilities 69,640 25,152

Total current liabilities 122,693 166,807

Total liabilities 384,269 370,675

Total equity and liabilities 798,659 1,330,747

17 Fees to auditors appointed at the general meeting
18 Related parties
19 Mortgages and collateral security
20 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and commitments
21 Financial risks
22 Discontinued operations
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Statement of movements in equity  (DKK thousands)

Share  
capital

Share  
premium

Reserve for 
currency  

translation

Other  
reserves 

Retained  
earnings

2011
total

2010
total

Equity at 1 January 491,079 0 9,313 (2,997) 462,677 960,072 1,148,605
Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments - - - (19,074) - (19,074) (2,102)
Foreign exchange adjustment of net investment in foreign 
subsidiary - - 1,815 - - 1,815 58,978
Fair value adjustment of hedge of net investment in 
foreign subsidiary - - 841 - - 841 (14,536)
Net profit/(loss) - - - - (658,666) (658,666) (267,775)
Rights issue:
- proceeds from share issue - - - - - 0 0
- costs of share issue - (2,799) - - - (2,799) 0
Employee warrant programme:
- costs of share-based payment - - - - 24,201 24,201 9,807
- proceeds from share issue - - - - - 0 27,220
- costs of share issue - - - - - 0 (125)
Transfers - 2,799 - - (2,799) 0 0 

Equity at 31 December 491,079 0 11,969 (22,071) (174,587) 306,390 960,072

Share capital 2007 2008 2009 2010 2010

Share capital at 1 January 246,390 304,854 314,866 487,590 491,079
Equity issues 55,092 9,715 172,724 - -
Exercise of warrants 3,372 297 -  3,489 -

Share capital at 31 December 304,854 314,866 487,590 491,079 491,079

The total number of shares is 24,553,947 (2010: 24,553,947 shares) with a nominal value of DKK 20 each (2010: DKK 20 per share). All issued shares are fully paid up. All shares 
carry the same rights. The company has issued warrants to the management and a number of employees. See note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes (DKK thousands)

1 Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 2011 2010

Intangible assets:
Recognised in: 
Research costs 2,947 3,199

Total 2,947 3,199

Property, plant and equipment:
Recognised in:
Research costs 51,066 10,284
General and administrative costs 91,333 3,190

Total 142,399 13,474

2 Staff 2011 2010

Staff costs were:
Salaries and wages 120,064 113,482
Share-based payment 21,831 8,588
Pension 9,640 9,720
Social security costs 1,413 1,381
Other staff costs 8,714 7,341

Total 161,662 140,512

Recognised in:
Research costs 85,290 79,946
Development costs 54,943 40,013
General and administrative costs 21,429 20,553

Total 161,662 140,512

Average number of employees 186 200

For a specification of remuneration to the Board of Directors and the Executive Management see note 3 in the consolidated financial statements, as the specification for the parent 
company is identical to that for the group.

3 Financial income 2011 2010

Interest income 3,464 2,708
Net foreign exchange adjustments - 1,199
Net fair value adjustment of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 16,077 29,170
Financial element of contingent consideration 638 -

Total 20,179 33,077

4 Financial expense 2011 2010

Interest expense 9,482 11,056
Net foreign exchange adjustments 1,755 -
Financial element of contingent consideration - 3,702

Total 11,237 14,758
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5 Tax (DKK millions) 2011 2010

Calculated tax on the year’s loss - -
Change in deferred tax - -

Tax on the year’s loss 0 0

As of 31 December 2011, the parent company had tax losses carried forward of approximately DKK 837 million which can be carried forward indefinitely.  
In addition, the parent company had temporary net deductible differences of approximately DKK 1,178 million. 

In the financial statements, the value of the deferred tax asset has been written down to zero as a result of uncertainty as to the company’s ability to generate sufficient future taxable 
revenues for the tax asset to be utilised.

The statement below shows the year’s movements in the potential tax asset:

Tax on pre-tax loss 165 67
Share of profit/(loss) of subsidiaries and associates 10 (29)
Permanent deviations relating to share-based payment, etc. (5) (2)
Non taxable income and other tax-deductible costs 1 (1)
Adjustment of deferred tax for prior years - 2

Change in deferred tax asset (increase of potential tax asset) 171 37

Breakdown of unrecognised deferred tax assets:
Tax losses carried forward (available indefinitely) 837 696
Research and development costs 508 418
Rights 262 124
Non-current assets 170 22
Patent costs 55 48
Assets held under finance leases 21 31
Provisions 190 -
Other (28) (9)

Total temporary differences 2,015 1,330

Calculated potential deferred tax asset at local tax rate 504 333
Write-down of deferred tax asset (504) (333)

Recognised deferred tax asset 0 0

6 Intangible assets                        Licences and patents    Software Prepayments

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Cost at 1 January 19,620 19,620 4,149 0 0 3,398
Additions - - - 751 - -
Transfers - - - 3,398 - (3,398)

Cost at 31 December 19,620 19,620 0 4,149 0 0

Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 19,439 17,623 1,383 0 0 0
Amortisation 181 1,816 1,037 1,383 - -
Impairment - - 1,729 - - -

Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 19,620 19,439 4,149 1,383 0 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 0 181 0 2,766 0 0

For information regarding impairment test of intangible assets reference is made to note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.



67CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NEUROSEARCH  2011 67THE PARENT COMPANY, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NEUROSEARCH  2011

7 Property, plant and equipment  Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Other  
plant and  

equipment

Pre- 
payments

2011 total 2010 total

Cost at 1 January 217,768 111,119 21,584 1,165 351,636 341,325
Additions 475 2,825 237 - 3,537 10,348
Transfers - 1,165 - (1,165) 0 0
Disposals 8,766 - - - 8,766 37

Cost at 31 December 209,477 115,109 21,821 0 346,407 351,636

Depreciation and impairment at 1 January 59,200 75,235 17,960 0 152,395 138,958
Depreciation 1,424 6,302 2,229 - 9,955 13,474
Impairment 97,240 33,572 1,632 - 132,444 0
Disposals 787 - - - 787 37

Depreciation and impairment at 31 December 157,077 115,109 21,821 0 294,007 152,395

Carrying amount at 31 December* 52,400 0 0 0 52,400 199,241

*  Of which carrying amount of assets held under finance leases 0 0 0 0 0 30,704

8  Investments in subsidiaries and associates                                                                              Subsidiaries                      Associates

2011 2010 2011 2010

Cost at 1 January 1,004,060 802,630 143,371 142,463
Additions - - 16,058 908
Contribution recognised in the investment 39,056 140,390 - -
Reassessment of contingent consideration related to acquisition* (60,270) (2,863) - -
Foreign exchange adjustment 2,290 63,903 - -
Disposals - - (60,937) -

Cost at 31 December 985,136 1,004,060 98,492 143,371

Amortisation and impairment at 1 January (450,064) (364,562) (144,708) (143,133)
Net profit/(loss) (48,515) (147,880) (6,928) 2,073
Amortisation and impairment of goodwill and development projects (70,927) (8,774) - -
Capitalisation of deferred tax - 47,244 - -
Foreign exchange adjustment 2,638 23,908 - -
Other adjustments - - 1,018 (3,648)
Reversal of amortisation and impairment on disposals - - 53,255 -

Amortisation and impairment at 31 December (566,868) (450,064) (97,363) (144,708)

Offset against receivables 60,625 61,173 - 10,895

Transfer for offset against receivables or provisions at 31 December 60,625 61,173 - 10,895

Carrying amount at 31 December 478,893 615,169 1,129 9,558

*  See note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for a description of movements in contingent consideration.

Accumulated amortisation and impairment of goodwill and development projects totalled DKK 105 million at 31 December 2011 (2010: DKK 34 million).

The carrying amount of intangible assets in connection with acquisitions as at 31 December 2011 was DKK 504 million (2010: DKK 633 million). For information regarding the impair-
ment test of the carrying amount of intangible assets, see note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries:

Name Registered  
office

Ownership  
interest (%)

Share  
capital  

 
Equity Assets Revenue

Net profit/ 
(loss)

NeuroSearch Sweden AB Gothenburg 100 1,980 (371,369) 5,779 148,743 86,567
Poseidon Pharmaceutical A/S Ballerup 100 10,500 63,346 63,361 - 605
NsExplorer A/S Ballerup 100 564 (3,519) 5 - (59)

The specification of associates is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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9 Other receivables 2011 2010

Prepaid costs* 4,792 8,138
Project-related receivables** 8,856 9,769
Other receivables*** 32,982 3,558

Total 46,630 21,465

*    Prepaid costs concern research activities, leasing, insurance, subscriptions, etc. 
**  Project-related receivables consist of receivables from the company’s partnership agreements.
*** In connection with the sale of the shares in Sophion Bioscience A/S, NeuroSearch has been appointed, to represent the sellers on behalf of all shareholders. Part of the proceeds has been deposited in an 
escrow account with Nordea Bank Danmark and, in its capacity as representative, NeuroSearch manages these proceeds, which are expected to be available for disbursement in December 2012, at the latest. 
The amount is DKK 29 million, of which DKK 9 million is remaining proceeds to NeuroSearch.

The carrying amount of other receivables largely corresponds approximately to their fair values. Other receivables, etc. are not subject to any material credit risk as they primarily 
concern receivables from large international partners, prepaid costs and VAT.

As of 31 December 2011, there were no indications of impairment of other receivables, and consequently no impairment losses have been recognised thereon.

10 Other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

11 Cash 2011 2010

Money market accounts 31,728 24,726

Total 31,728 24,726

NeuroSearch is subject to credit risk with respect to bank deposits. The maximum credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount. 
The credit risk involved in cash is handled by only collaborating with financial institutions with satisfactory creditworthiness. No credit risk is considered to exist in relation to cash as 
the counterparties are Nordea and Danske Bank.

15 Finance leases

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

13 Acquisition of subsidiaries and operations

The specification of contingent consideration and other contractual obligations for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 16 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

14 Mortgage debt

 The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

12 Other reserves

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

16 Current portion of long-term debt

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

17 Fees to auditors appointed at the general meeting

A separate statement has not been prepared for the parent company of fees to the auditors appointed at the general meeting as the fees are included in the statement for the group 
pursuant to section 96(3) of the Danish Financial Statements Act. See note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for the statement for the group.

18 Related-party transactions

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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19 Mortgages and collateral security

The specification for the parent company is identical to that of the group, and reference is therefore made to note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

21 Financial risks

See information in the consolidated financial statements note 24.

20 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent assets
The parent company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of DKK 504 million (2010: DKK 333 million). See note 5 for a breakdown of the tax asset.

Contingent liabilities
The parent company has issued letters of comfort for Poseidon Pharmaceuticals A/S, NsExplorer A/S and NeuroSearch Sweden AB stating that NeuroSearch A/S will cover the capital 
requirements of the companies within the budgeted activity limits. In connection with the closure of discontinued operations, major rental, lease and contingent liabilities have been 
accrued under other liabilities. There are no material outstanding contingent liabilities.

Information regarding takeover of control of NeuroSearch and contractual obligations
The EU Takeover Directive, which has been implemented as part of the Danish Financial Statements Act, includes certain rules requiring listed companies to provide information that 
may be of interest to the market and potential bidders, in particular in relation to information on change of control clauses.

For information on share capital and ownership, see “Shareholder information” in Management’s Review. See note 3 for information regarding “change of control” clauses in relation to 
the company’s warrant programme and contracts with the Executive Management.

NeuroSearch has no material contractual obligations other than under the collaborative and licence agreements with Lilly and Janssen.

Lilly can terminate the collaborative agreement in the event of material breach of the agreement by NeuroSearch, in the event that NeuroSearch is in breach of certain financial 
covenants, or in the event of a change of control of NeuroSearch. The Janssen agreement does no include any “change of control” clauses, but Janssen can terminate the agreement 
in full or in part at 60 days’ notice. However, any such termination would not have any impact on the contingent research funding.

22 Discontinued operations 2011 2010

On 27 September 2011, the group announced a comprehensive restructuring and controlled discontinuation of all the company’s operations 
with the exception of Huntexil® in order to release as many financial and managerial resources as possible to complete the development of 
Huntexil®.

The discontinued operations are recognised at the following amounts:
Revenue 37,468 109,688
Profit/(loss) for the period (329,339) (160,430)
Intangible and tangible assets  0 43,620
Current assets 8,856 9,796
Provisions* 108,000 0

*  Provision of DKK 108 million relates to expenses regarding discontinuing operations including contractual obligations from collaborative agreements.
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